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CRIMINAL DEBT COLLECTION EFFORTS

WEDNESDAY, JULY 19, 1995

U.S. Senate,
Committee on Governmental Affairs,

Washington, DC.
The Committee met, pursuant to notice, at 2:11 p.m., in room

342, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. John McCain, presiding.

Present: Senators McCain, Smith, and Dorgan.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR McCAIN
Senator McCain. Welcome. The purpose of this hearing is to as-

sess the quality of Federal criminal debt collection efforts. Particu-
larly, we will examine efforts by the Administrative Office of the
United States Courts to establish the National Fine Center and to

ensure that the project fulfills Congressional intent expressed in

the National Fine Collection Improvement Act of 1987.
The 1987 Act called for a highly-automated, centralized data

base to improve efforts by the 94 Federal Judicial Districts to ac-

count for and collect Federal criminal debt.

Each year, nearly 50,000 Federal criminals are ordered to pay
over $1.5 billion in monetary penalties to victims and the Federal
Government. This money is deposited into the Crime Victim Fund
to finance vital victim assistance programs. Unfortunately, the
Government's record of collecting these debts is not good.
By some estimates, an astounding $4.5 billion in criminal debt

remains uncollected, an amount that has risen 15-fold in the past
decade, and nearly one-half billion dollars since last year. While a
portion of this money is uncollectible because of cases in which as-

sessments greatly exceed the debtors' ability to pay, the effort to

ensure that criminals meet their obligation to victims in society can
be vastly improved.
Debt collection has long been a disorganized and low-priority

function for many Federal Judicial Districts. In one district, the
court did not even have current addresses for nearly one-third of

the criminal debtors under its jurisdiction.

Congress envisioned that creating a national facility to centrally
account for and receive criminal debt would improve the effort. To
finance the project, the Administrative Office was provided with
$20 million from the National Crime Victim Fund. Revenues from
the Crime Victim account are reserved normally for vital victim
compensation and assistance programs.

Congress, in accordance with the victim advocacy groups, per-
mitted the AO to dip into the Crime Victim Fund to finance the
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Fine Center, expecting that enhanced collections from an efficient

fine center would more than offset the cost of the project.

Unfortunately, efficient does not accurately describe the Fine

Center project. Originally, the Fine Center was supposed to be
operational by early 1995. On June 28, 1994, the Governmental Af-

fairs Committee, under the leadership of Senator Dorgan, held a

hearing to assess the NFC. At that hearing, we learned that be-

tween 1990 and 1994, the AO spent nearly $5 million on the

project, yet had zero to show for the effort.

Waste of taxpayers' dollars is always disturbing. However, the

waste of this $5 million was particularly egregious because it con-

stituted double jeopardy to crime victims.

First, money that should have provided vital services to victims

was diverted for a fruitless bureaucratic exercise.

Second, the delay in bringing the NFC on-line has perpetuated

the collections problem. Each month the Fine Center is delayed, an
untold amount of criminal debt is rendered uncollectible, either be-

cause the statute of expectation expires or the Government loses

track of the debtor. Every dime we fail to collect from criminals is

a dime taken away from crime victims who desperately need the

assistance.

Last year, the Administrative Office acknowledged that the

project has been problematic. Mr. Dick Ames, who is with us today,

indicated that a new management team was in place, lessons were
learned, and the AO was embarking with new resolve to establish

a workable Fine Center.
The Committee accepted these assurances and pledged to hold a

hearing this year to assess progress on the project. I look forward
to hearing the testimony today. In no way do I desire to prejudge

the situation, but I must say I am very skeptical that we are on
the right track to establish a Fine Center that fulfills Congres-

sional intent in a timely and cost-effective manner.
The GAO informs us that today, 8 years and $10.5 million after

Congress authorized the NFC, no comprehensive plan for fulfilling

the Congressional intent of a highly-automated National Fine Cen-
ter exists.

We will hear testimony from that Administrative Office that

Phase I of the project is ahead of the schedule and that all 94 dis-

tricts will be "brought into the system" by September of next year.

As I understand it, being part of the system means that court offi-

cials now fill out forms with case information and mail it in to the

NFC for central record keeping, where interest and penalties are

calculated by newly-hired accountants.
Phase II of the project, which calls for the integrated automation

of the data base, bringing to bear the efficiency envisioned by Con-
gress, is still quite a way off. Again, the GAO informs me that we
still have no comprehensive plan for Phase II. I find that astound-

ing. On what has the AO spent $10 million?

The Department of Justice, which is the primary customer of the

NFC, recently wrote to the GAO the following: "The DOJ has been
informed that it will not be given on-line interactive access to the

NFC data, contrary to the provisions of the jointly agreed upon re-

quirements document. The absence of on-line access to the NFC
data may require the Department of Justice to develop a computer



system to download data from the Fine Center to perform efficient

debt collection in an automated manner without duplicating the
data entry function already performed by the NFC personnel."
Ladies and gentlemen, we are being told that after we spend $25

million in victims' money on a system to transmit information from
the courts back to Washington, D.C., we will need to spend another
untold sum to develop yet another computer system to enable the
courts to access the vital information to actually improve debt col-

lection.

Recently, I asked the GAO how we can be sure that, today, the
troubled history of the project notwithstanding, we are on the road
to achieving a Fine Center that fulfills Congressional intent in the
most timely and cost-effective manner possible.
The GAO said they cannot provide such assurance because there

is no comprehensive plan for affecting Phase II of the project for

the agency to assess. The lack of detailed plans, alternative studies,
time lines, cost estimates, and decision documents which are cus-
tomary for any such undertaking cast serious doubts on whether
an organized and deliberative decision making process is at work
and it makes it nearly impossible for Congress and the GAO to as-

sess where the project really is and where it is going.
Today, we will hear testimony that the private sector could have

brought the NFC on-line in a fraction of the time we have already
expended for a much lower price tag. I do not impugn the motives
of anyone at the Administrative Office. I am sure that only the best
of intentions are at work, but good intentions are not enough.
This hearing must convince the Committee we are embarked on

the most timely and cost-efficient path to finalizing the National
Fine Center. If not convinced, it would be my intention that the
funding be frozen and the project assessed by an independent out-
side panel once a comprehensive plan is produced.

I want to thank my friend from North Dakota, Senator Dorgan,
for his years of effort on this issue and I want to thank him for

his participation in the hearing today. Senator Dorgan?

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR DORGAN
Senator Dorgan. Mr. Chairman, thank you very much.
I am pleased to join you in this hearing. I think it will advance

some questions that we began to raise last year.
The issue of criminal debt as a result of fines and restitution or-

ders is one that continues to baffle me. I became interested in this

from a report that I saw once in a newspaper about a Government
report about S&Ls and the fines and restitution orders that had
been assessed against S&L operators who were convicted of fraud
and so on.

The particular report I saw showed that 2V2 percent had been
collected out of the $1.96 billion ordered in fines and restitutions
as a result of S&L cases. Of $1.96 billion, $49 million was collected.

It occurred to me, if one was going to owe money, one might
want to owe money to the Federal Government in the form of a fine
because that appears to be the least likely money to be collected.

I then got involved in asking, why would this be the case? I

found out we are owed $4.5 billion in outstanding fines. It is up
about a half-billion from last year. We have a system that is large-



ly archaic, kind of a quill pen system in which each of the Judicial

Districts are out there assessing fines and then trying to collect

them using folks who are not specialists in these areas and who,
as an afterthought, are tracking fines they had addressed long ago.

You couldn't find out how many fines were outstanding, what the

age of the fines were, who was working them. It was chaotic.

The thing I did not understand, Mr. Chairman, is you go down-
town today and buy a shirt at a department store and you give

them a credit card. They are going to run that credit card through
one of these little magnetic image detection things and they are

going to, in 30 seconds, find out whether your credit card is good.

The private sector keeps track of a couple hundred million of those
credit cards, and they can, in 20 seconds, tell you whether John
McCain or Byron Dorgan has paid their credit card bill.

If we can keep track of a couple hundred million credit cards on
almost a real-time basis, I do not have the foggiest idea why we
cannot keep track of $4.5 billion in Federal fines and collect them,
or at least collect those that are collectable. That is why we are

here.

The Chairman made this point, and I think it is an important
one. The money that was invested in creating a National Fine Cen-
ter comes, in large part, from money that would have otherwise
have gone to victims. When money that would otherwise have gone
to victims is invested in the creation of a National Fine Center and
you find out that millions are frittered away because you go down
the wrong street, then back up and make a U-turn, people start

scratching their heads and say, "What are we investing in here?"

That is the purpose of this hearing, to find out, are we headed
in the right direction or not? If not, let us put an end to this and
bring somebody in that can move it in the right direction.

Let me make one final point before we hear the witnesses. The
Chairman referenced the report that we received from the GAO. It

does say Phase I of the plan will be completed by September 1995,

at which time the Administrative Office promises that all 94 Judi-

cial Districts will be providing new Federal criminal debt informa-
tion to the National Fine Center. That sounds encouraging, but it

does not tell quite the whole story.

Since the Administrative Office decided to include only the low-

est-volume Judicial Districts during this Phase I, it has taken only
a small step towards implementation of the Center. The districts

handle fewer than 200 convicted criminals annually. The point of

that is, you are talking about districts that account for $6.5 million

out of the $4.5 billion in Phase I, so one can get a distorted picture

of how far down the road we have really gone here.

Where does this leave us? It leaves us, those of us who are in-

volved in the question of legislating and appropriating money for

these things, to ask the question, are we getting what we pay for,

and if not, how do we change it to make it happen? There is no
reason at all in this country that a criminal ought to feel com-
fortable. When a fine or restitution is imposed against someone
who broke the law, that criminal ought not to feel comfortable
about the agency not being able to collect. I am afraid that is the
case in this country today.



I want somebody who is assessed a restitution order or a fine to

understand that this Government is going to take effective action
to collect it. We take action to collect taxes against people who have
not committed crimes. If people commit crimes and are fined, I ex-

pect us to be 50 times more aggressive in collecting those fines, and
the fact is, the evidence tells us that we have not been aggressive
at all. We have had a chaotic, disjointed system that does not work.

I have one fmal point. It really bothers me to hear that we may
have a circumstances where, when this is finished, the Department
of Justice cannot access real-time, real information. That would not
be a system that would be useful, either.

I appreciate very much Chairman McCain working with us to

hold this hearing. He, as always, is indefatigable in tracking these
kinds of issues on behalf of good Government and on behalf of the
interest of the American taxpayer.
Mr. Chairman, thank you.
Senator McCain. Thank you very much, Senator Dorgan. Thank

you for your much longer involvement in this issue than mine.
Our first witness is Ms. Linda Koontz, who is the Associate Di-

rector of the Accounting and Information Management Division of
the General Accounting Office. Welcome, Ms. Koontz. Perhaps for

the record you would like to identify your associates.

TESTIMONY OF LINDA D. KOONTZ, ASSOCIATE DIRECTOR, IN-
FORMATION RESOURCES MANAGEMENT/GENERAL GOVERN-
MENT ISSUES, ACCOUNTING AND INFORMATION MANAGE-
MENT DIVISION, U.S. GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE; AC-
COMPANIED BY WILLIAM JENKINS, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR,
GENERAL GOVERNMENT DIVISION, AND BRIAN SPENCER,
TECHNICAL ASSISTANT DIRECTOR, ACCOUNTING AND IN-
FORMATION MANAGEMENT DIVISION

Ms. Koontz. Certainly. On my right is Bill Jenkins, who is an
Assistant Director from our General Government Division, and on
my left, Brian Spencer, who is the Technical Assistant Director
who worked on this particular project.

Senator McCain. Thank you. Welcome, gentlemen, and welcome
to you, Ms. Koontz.
Ms. Koontz. Thank you. With your permission, we would like to

summarize our statement and submit the full one for the record.

Senator McCain. Without objection.

Ms. Koontz. I am pleased to be here today to discuss the Admin-
istrative Office of the U.S. Courts' efforts to centralize criminal
debt accounting and reporting within the National Fine Center.
As you know, under the Criminal Fine Improvements Act of

1987, AOUSC was required to establish a criminal debt system to

automate and centralize criminal debt processing for all 94 Judicial
Districts, replace the fragmented approach for receiving criminal
fine payments, and alleviate longstanding weaknesses in account-
ing for and reporting on criminal monetary penalties.

As discussed in our May report, the AOtJSC has made progress
in implementing the NFC by centralizing new criminal debt infor-

mation in 25 of the smaller Judicial Districts. We believe, however,
that there are significant challenges ahead that will require exten-
sive planning and coordination among AOUSC, the Department of



Justice, and other systems users if AOUSC is to successfully imple-
ment the National Fine Center in all 94 Districts.

I would like to briefly discuss AOUSC's initial efforts to central-

ize criminal debt and implement a system and then discuss addi-

tional actions that are needed by AOUSC and Justice to complete
NFC implementation.

In April 1994, AOUSC began its current two-phase implementa-
tion approach. Under Phase I, scheduled to be completed in Sep-
tember 1996, the NFC planned to use an off-the-shelf accounting
system to establish debtor accounts, bill debtors, record payments,
pay victims, and report on criminal debts on a limited scale. Once
the selected system was fully operational under Phase I, AOUSC
planned to expand the system during Phase II to improve users' ac-

cess to NFC information and increase management information re-

porting capabilities.

Since April 1994, AOUSC officials have established a process for

centralizing criminal debt accounts, developed a program to train

Judicial District staff on NFC requirements, selected the off-the-

shelf accounting system, and begun processing new criminal debt
information for 25 of the smaller Judicial Districts, using the se-

lected system. AOUSC's schedule calls for 15 additional Judicial

Districts to be added to NFC by August 1995.

There are a number of actions, however, that AOUSC and Jus-
tice need to take to complete NFC implementation. First, AOUSC
needs to complete a number of enhancements to the off-the-shelf

accounting system. Currently, only a small fraction of criminal debt
accounts are on the NFC system. Before the larger courts and ex-

isting criminal debt can be added, the AOUSC will need to auto-

mate certain billing, payment receipt, and disbursement functions
which are, for the most part, being done manually by NFC staff.

One of the more important enhancements is to establish an auto-

mated interface between the NFC and a Justice system to allow
Justice staff increased access to account information.
We understand, Mr. Chairman, that AOUSC officials are work-

ing to develop these enhancements. However, none are complete at

this time.

Second, AOUSC and Justice will need to work together to rec-

oncile the estimated $4.5 billion in existing debt accounts and enter
these amounts into the NFC system. In the past, debt accounts had
been separately maintained by Judicial District staffs within the
Clerk of the Courts Offices, Probation Offices, and U.S. Attorneys
Offices. AOUSC has drafted a strategy to guide the upcoming rec-

onciliation process. However, this strategy has not yet been agreed
to by Justice and Judicial District officials.

Third, AOUSC and Justice need to develop a strategy for deter-

mining the collectibility of both new and existing criminal debt.

Currently, AOUSC records all new criminal debt in the NFC sys-

tem as accounts receivable without a determination by AOUSC or

Justice as to whether such debt is collectible. Without such a deter-

mination, decision makers may be led to believe that substantially
greater amounts are collectible, the NFC will be unable to accu-

rately report on the composition of the outstanding debt, and users
who are responsible for collecting debt will be unable to effectively



target their resources on debts with the highest probabihty of col-

lection.

According to AOUSC and Justice officials, Justice has recently

instituted a new policy intended to improve its ability to record the

collectibility of criminal debt. However, we have not analyzed the

policy or the extent to which it has been implemented.
Finally, AOUSC will need to define specifically how and when

the objectives described under Phase II of the NFC project will be

accomplished. AOUSC officials told us that they had begun work-

ing with Justice and other system users to define the necessary in-

formation and recording requirements but have not yet defined the

specific system enhancements that are needed. AOUSC officials

generally agreed with our findings and recommendations, and in

each case, they are taking action to develop the necessary plans

and strategies to address these issues.

That concludes our prepared statement. We would be happy to

answer any questions that you may have.

Senator McCain. Thank you very much, Mr. Koontz.

To your knowledge, does the Administrative Office have a suffi-

ciently comprehensive written plan for automating and integrating

the Federal Districts into the National Fine Center?

Ms. Koontz. At the time of our review, the AOUSC did not have
a comprehensive plan for implementing the NFC system, and as

stated in our report, we were particularly concerned about the lack

of specificity about Phase II and also that the strategies for dealing

with reconciliation and with collectibility had not been finalized.

Recently, we were informed that AOUSC has prepared a plan

that discusses the implementation of Phase I and they included it

in their IRM plan. However, this plan does not go as far as to ad-

dress Phase II and we have not reviewed the submission.

Senator McCain. Automated integration is an essential ingredi-

ent, would you agree, if we are going to efficiently collect and
record these fines?

Ms. Koontz. Yes. Automation and integration are the key to effi-

cient collection. At the time of our review, the small volume of ac-

counts that were on the system would make it such that the lack

of automation and integration wouldn't have been a big problem.

However, as the AOUSC continues to add more districts and larger

districts, it will become critical that they take advantage of auto-

mation and integration to successfully complete the system.

The AO recently indicated that it plans to electronically integrate

its operations, but it cannot do so until LANs are installed in the

Judicial Districts and external interfaces with DOJ and other users

are installed.

Senator McCain. Are you dismayed that it has been 8 years and
we spent $10 million to get where we are?

Ms. Koontz. We think clearly that to progress any further with-

out the required plans and documentation presents more of a risk

than the AO should be willing to take on at this point. A plan

doesn't guarantee success, but without one, you certainly take a

large risk.

Senator McCain. I understand the AO started purchasing capital

equipment for the Judicial Districts, such as LAN computers, even
though many districts have already obtained suitable equipment.
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Are you concerned that funds are being wasted on capital equip-

ment which may not be needed?
Ms. KOONTZ. We were only recently informed that the AO had

planned to install LANs in the districts as a way of communicating
between the NFC and the districts, and so for that reason, we have
not really fully evaluated those LANs. But it is basically our posi-

tion that if the AO is to install those LANs, they should first look

at the feasibility of using LANs for that purpose. They should also

look at whether there is suitable equipment already there that
could be used instead.

In addition, the use of LANs introduces a number of security is-

sues that we think the AO should deal with. Specifically, we would
like the AO to do some kind of risk analysis to define what kind
of vulnerabilities the system would have as configured and to rec-

ommend some protections that should be built into the system.
Senator McCain. What can we do to ensure that the AO be held

more accountable for the approaches, the cost, and the timeliness

associated with this project?

Ms. KooNTZ. We think, first, that the AO needs to be able to

show precisely what it has spent to date on the current NFC ap-

proach and how the funds have been spent. We want to see how
it plans to continue Phase I and within what costs and time frame.
And also, for Phase II, what it plans to accomplish, how, and in

what time frame. We think that the AO should provide the latest

status of the NFC project, particularly with regard to the enhance-
ments that they are doing.

Senator McCain. Senator Dorgan?
Senator DoRGAN. Ms. Koontz, just give me your general impres-

sion of where we end up with all of this. You have evaluated what
we wanted to do and what has been so far, and you provided a re-

port that suggests some relatively modest progress and substantial

concerns about where we are headed.
I said last year at this hearing that if one decided to say to the

Pentagon, "all right, now we would like you to build a television

set." A hundred thousand dollars later, we probably still would not
have a television set because they would have gone off and de-

signed their own specs for the knobs and so on.

I am wondering if that is not what has happened with the Na-
tional Fine Center, and I am wondering if we ever, under the cur-

rent circumstance, get to where we want to get with the National
Fine Center. What is your impression?
Ms. Koontz. I think it is difficult for us to have confidence at

this point that the AO can definitely fulfill the mandate that Con-
gress laid out for them for the National Fine Center. Our concern
basically is because of the lack of plans and documentation that we
expected to see. It is very difficult to evaluate a project without
that kind of documentation and without a road map for where the
AO wants to go and how they plan to get there.

Senator DoRGAN. As I understand it, this is a very, very decen-
tralized and disjointed system. At the hearing last year, the propo-
sition was we have to do two things. One, we have to find out what
is owed, and you have to consolidate the records to figure out who
owes money and how much do they owe. Then, you have to try to



collect it. So that is a two-step process, and the first step is not
complete, obviously.

Ms. KooNTZ. Correct.

Senator Dorgan. We do not have good records of who owes what.
They are disjointed and scattered all around the country.

I guess the question this leads to is, I think, the question Senator
McCain has asked publicly, about if this does not get one to the de-

sired goal, what about privatizing that kind of collection?

Ms. KoONTZ. Are you talking about privatizing the collection

process or privatizing the development of the Fine Center?
Senator DORGAN. The collection process.

Ms. KooNTZ. The collection process? Privatizing the collection

process for criminal debt is not something that we have studied in

depth, so there is not a lot I can add there except that we did a
study last year looking at the use of private attorneys to collect the
civil debt. I think there were a couple points in there that are
maybe relevant here.

First is that, generally, when you use private firms or counsels
to collect debt, they get a portion of the debt as part of their pay-
ment, and there would probably need to be some kind of legal

change in order to define how those folks would be paid because
the money normally either goes to victims or it goes directly to the
Crime Victim Fund.

Also, as I understand, when it relates to criminal debt, that there

is some concern over the protection of certain sensitive information,
for example, grand jury information. Those are factors that one
might want to consider in moving forward with privatization.

Senator Dorgan. One of the questions that we asked last year
at the hearing was how they proceeded to begin to deal with the
issue, and the answer was, well, the first thing to do is deal with
all the users. Find out what their needs are. They did this assess-

ment of what the users wanted, what kind of a system they would
work with and think would be appropriate.

I think you would be a fool to set up a system that was not cog-

nizant of the needs of the users. However, on the other hand, you
also need some leadership, once you have assessed what the wants
are of the users, to distinguish between wants and needs and de-

cide as a matter of leadership what the system will look like. It will

resolve these issues. Here is what we are going to spend on it. Here
is how we are going to develop it. That is the leadership component
of making the decisions, once you have gotten all the information.
From your perspective, is there a deficiency here in the leader-

ship side of it, the decision making process at the top? How would
you assess where the problems rest at this point?
Ms. KoONTZ. With regard to the requirements for the project, I

would say a weakness there has been that the functional require-

ments for this project have really never been finalized. I think you
saw some concern about this in the comments on the GAO report.

I think that DOJ pointed this out, that a requirements document
that is years old has never been updated and never been finalized.

Senator DORGAN. What do you mean by functional requirements?
Does that relate to, for example, the issue of whether, when this

is done, the Justice Department might be able to access the infor-

mation?



10

Ms. KOONTZ. That is part of it.

Mr. Spencer. Functional requirements are the operational parts
of what you expect to happen based on the requirement that you
need. For example, how do you intend to transmit information over
a line, the protocol, the details of that particular requirement. In
other words, the requirement for shipping data from the Judicial
District to the Fine Center, back and forth, how you intend to do
it functionally. They may have had a set of requirements, but as
far as we could tell, it was an incomplete set of requirements. The
functional requirements are very similar.

Senator DORGAN. I have no further questions. Thank you.
Senator McCain. Ms. Koontz, as you know, I have introduced

legislation that would privatize the collection of delinquent debt. If

you have not had a chance to look at it, I would like you to look
at it and get back to us on what you think the viability of that pro-

posal is.

Senator Smith?
Senator Smith. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Ms. Koontz, do you have any date in mind when you feel that

the National Fine Center could be fully operational? I came in late

and you may have indicated that.

Ms. Koontz. The only date that I can pass on with certainty is

that I understand from the AO that Phase I of the NFC implemen-
tation will be completed in August of 1996. I understand that com-
pletion of the Phase II, which is the phase that will provide more
of the management and financial reporting, won't be completed for

3 to 5 years.

Senator Smith. Two phases?
Ms. Koontz. Two phases.
Senator Smith. Do you have any specific suggestions in terms of

the codification, any specific changes that you would like to see us
make in the Act itself to help you?
Ms. Koontz. That is not something we studied. Maybe that is

something that we could look at, though, and provide for you at a
later time.
Senator Smith. In your statement, you indicate a number of ac-

tions that you believe that the Administrative Office of the U.S.
Courts and the Department of Justice should take. You used terms
like "work with" and "generally agree with", et cetera. It seemed
like you might have been maybe glossing over a little bit some dif-

ferences. Are there significant problems? Do you find any fault
with one agency over the other in terms of their working relation-

ship?
Ms. Koontz. I'm not sure that I could lay the blame with either

party specifically, but there appears to be a communications prob-
lem between the Department of Justice and the AO. I think we saw
that very clearly when we received the Justice comments on our re-

port, that there was a very big divergence of opinion on how well
the Fine Center is progressing. But I certainly can't lay the blame
at one or the other's feet at this point.

Senator Smith. But a little improvement is possible?
Ms. Koontz. I think on both sides.

Senator Smith. I do not have any further questions at this point,
Mr. Chairman. Thank you.
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Senator McCain. Sometimes a failure of communications is a de-
scription of a fist fight. [Laughter.]

Ms. KOONTZ. I do not think that has happened yet.

Senator McCain. Do you think that this time frame of 3 to 5

more years before Phase II is implemented is satisfactory?

Ms. KoONTZ. I cannot comment on whether 3 or 5 years are rea-

sonable, just because we do not have the level of specificity to say
exactly what Phase II is at this point. So I would not be com-
fortable making an opinion as to time frames.

Senator McCain. Do you have specific recommendations as to

how they can speed up the process?
Ms. KoONTZ. Speed up the implementation of the Fine Center?

I think that by following the recommendations that we have al-

ready laid out, I think that should speed things up. I think one of

the benefits of them working together to come up with plans for

Phase II and to decide on reconciliation and to decide on collectibil-

ity are ways of improving the communications, and I think if the
communications are improved, that should also help this move for-

ward more quickly, as well.

Senator McCain. Thank you very much.
Senator Dorgan?
Senator DORGAN. No. Thank you very much.
Senator McCain. Thank you very much, Mr. Jenkins and Mr.

Spencer. Thank you, Ms. Koontz.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Koontz appears on page 39.]

Senator McCain. Our next witnesses will be Mr. Dick Ames, who
is the Assistant Director for Finance Budget of the Administrative
Office of the U.S. Courts and Mr. Gerald Stern, who is the Special

Counsel, Financial Institution Fraud, Department of Justice.

Senator Dorgan. Mr. Chairman, while they are coming up,

might I say to Ms. Koontz that I hope in the months ahead, as we
continue to review the circumstances of this National Fine Center
and the funding, that we can call on the GAO for continued evalua-
tion. It is very helpful to us to be able to do that and I know that
other members of the Committee would be interested, as well.

Senator McCain. Mr. Ames, welcome.

TESTIMONY OF RICHARD A. AMES, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR
FINANCE AND BUDGET, ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE OF THE
U.S. COURTS; ACCOMPANIED BY JOHN BENOIT, PROJECT DI-

RECTOR, NATIONAL FINE CENTER
Mr. Ames. Thank you. First, I would like to introduce my col-

league on my right, John Benoit. John is a longtime Federal Gov-
ernment employee with in-depth experience in putting in place
business processes like the Fine Center project. He has been the
Project Director since we testified a year ago.

Senator McCain, Welcome, sir.

Mr. Ames. I have two thoughts here that I would like to pursue.
First, I would like to give a brief summary of the written remarks
and then add a few comments at the end.
As background, after a 4-year planning and development effort,

which took longer than the AG expected or wanted but produced
many valuable lessons learned, the AG began the implementation
phase on April 26, a year ago. At that time, my office took respon-
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sibility for the project. About 2 months later, this Committee had
a hearing on criminal debt collection. I testified, and at that time,

the Committee expressed concern that the project was moving too

slowly, concerns that have been voiced again in the opening re-

marks.
We take those concerns seriously, and because of those concerns,

and because we believe in this project and the importance of the

overall effort, we have been moving forward with a maximum-
speed plan, from our perspective, focused on how we put something
in place quickly, starting from that point in time, a year ago, April

26.

At the hearing, I reported on a two-phase implementation plan

that we had developed. The first phase would put in place the basic

mechanisms we all want so we can answer the hard questions,

rather, the easy questions—how much criminal debt is outstand-

ing? Who owes how much? Where do we stand on collecting it?

How much is collectable? How should we prioritize our efforts?

How can we change our processes to do even better?

What this Phase I system would do, simply, is for the first time,

establish an account for every single criminal debtor at the time of

the judgment and commitment order; to provide monthly billing to

notify those who are delinquent or in default; to provide monthly
reports to all those who need them, particularly all the people in

the courts working on criminal debt collection, but also to Con-
gress, to DOJ, and to others; to disburse the monies that we re-

ceive. What was our focus in moving forward? Three words. We
borrowed them from Nike, "Just do it".

Building on the lessons learned in the planning and development
phase, our concepts were straightforward. Start simple, start small,

modify as we go full speed ahead, but let us get started, and I

think that is the sense that we are hearing today, that that was
the right thing to do.

Well, to do that, given that 4 years had been spent developing

a grand design which no one could figure out how to implement,
we believe that the leadership has been provided that Senator Dor-
gan was questioning, because we said, this is what we are going
to do. We are going to do a two-phase plan. We know how to do
a two-phase plan. We will start simple; we will start basic. These
accounting processes that we are talking about are not rocket

science, and we understand that, nor is this an automation project,

the kind which the GAO team normally audits.

Instead, this is basically business process implementation in a

very difficult environment. What do I mean? The environment is

difficult because the action is at the local level. We have 94 District

Court units. You have a Chief Judge, U.S. Attorneys Office, Proba-
tion Office, clerks. Those are the key players who have to work to-

gether, just like a football team. It is very important that they do.

However, we all recognize that the way the Judiciary and the
Department of Justice operate, that there is a great deal of auton-
omy provided to U.S. Attorneys, to judges, and to individual court
units on how they will do business. So one of the challenges that
anyone would face in implementing this effort is to understand and
develop a single uniform business approach to do these things, if
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we are going to have a National Fine Center, when that is counter-

cultural to all involved.

Senator McCain. Hold on for one minute. There is only one per-

son that assesses the fine, is that not correct, the judge?
Mr. Ames. The judge establishes the fines within the sentencing

guidelines, that is correct.

Senator McCain. Then would not all that would be necessary for

that information to be relayed to the National Fine Center?
Mr. Ames. That is what we are doing.

Senator McCain. What is all this about U.S. Attorneys and
clerks and people like that? How do they enter into it?

Mr. Ames. What we have found as we visited and worked with
the first 25 courts, that one of the big challenges was that each of

the courts tended to have different ways of doing what we would
all consider to be a very basic, simple process. The judges use dif-

ferent judgment and commitment orders, for example. We can only

automate one of those.

Senator McCain. You do not care what methodology the judge
uses. All you care about is what the fine is.

Mr. Ames. That is correct, but if we are going to develop an auto-

mated solution, which we all want, it is practical to develop one ap-

proach as opposed to attempt to develop a whole series of ap-

proaches, and it does not apply only to the judgments themselves
but the way each of the offices work, including how well they work
together or do not work together. There is tremendous variation

among each of the courts and the way the offices work.
Senator DORGAN. Can I just follow up on that? What I do not un-

derstand is all of these judges and all of the U.S. Attorneys Offices

are Federal employees, are paid by the Federal Government and
responsible to the Federal Government. It seems to me that the

question that Senator McCain asked is "Form 1," if you are going

to number forms.

Form 1 is the fine the judge assessed that defendant. If there are

4,000 fines assessed in America today—I suspect there are that

many in Federal courts—if there are 4,000 fines, there would be

4,000 Form I's sent in and punched into the system. I am trying

to understand, I think, what Senator McCain asked. How much
more difficult can that be?
Mr. Ames. That is a good example because it shows where we

start from. The first challenge was to get Form 1.

Senator DoRGAN. But I could do that this afternoon, I would sus-

pect.

Mr. Ames. You may be able to create it, but the question is, how
do you get everyone to agree to use it and do so?

Senator DoRGAN. I think I could do that tomorrow morning.
Mr. Ames. We need you.
Senator DoRGAN. The fact is, these folks get their paycheck from

the Federal Government, all of them. So I do not think it is a big

problem deciding that they are going to levy fines as a Federal offi-

cer, that they have a responsibility to fill out a form that says this

person was assessed a $250,000 fine. That form goes into the sys-

tem and then there is a collection effort made to collect the fine.

I am just trying to understand

92-609 0-96-2
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Senator McCain. I guess what we are saying, Mr. Ames, and I

do not mean to get too adversarial here, but it really does not mat-
ter to you what system or what relationship exists within your of-

fice. All you should care about, my understanding is, is what the
fine is and then embark on the collection of that fine.

Perhaps there is something I do not know here and you can illu-

minate us on that. In other words, what additional information at

the National Fine Center do they need except the size of the fine

and who it was levied against?

Mr. Ames. What I am describing is the need to develop basic uni-

form business processes and to implement them and get them uti-

lized in every court, in every key office within every court, across

two branches of Government.
Senator McCain. Please proceed. I apologize for interrupting you.

Mr. Ames. The basic approach I was suggesting that we have
taken and said we would take a year ago, and I am referring in

these remarks not to something new but to something that we been
following, a philosophy and concept we have been following since

the implementation phase began in April of 1994. I will just repeat
it for continuity. Our basic driving concepts were "Just do it;" start

simple, start small; modify as we go; full speed ahead.
So accordingly, we began with the smallest courts, developed

simple business processes, utilized an initial off-the-shelf account-

ing package (that we already knew) in our central processing, and
we did that so that we could get started quickly. We did all these
things so we could get started—rather than wait until we devel-

oped a more sophisticated approach. We entered data manually
and we exchanged information by mail, phone, or fax. But the focus

was on action, on getting started and moving forward, as opposed
to waiting or looking for reasons to take a "time-out" or even stop-

ping.

So in line with that philosophy, we described an implementation
plan last year and a time table that would bring 23 courts onto a
central Fine Center processing unit in the first year, by this April

26, and all 94 courts by next August 26, 2 years after the first

court.

The implementation plan we discussed last summer included a
Phase II effort, which is simply an enhanced system, including
more comprehensive management information capabilities, like the
kind that Linda Koontz was describing, with wide scale, on-line ac-

cess.

Phase I implementation clearly had to be our first priority, but
we said last summer that as we proceeded over the next 2 years
to finish Phase I, we would begin work to develop plans for the
Phase II enhanced processes and systems and that we would pro-
vide some of those Phase II requirements during the Phase I imple-
mentation effort. In fact, during the first year, we have actually
made more progress on Phase II than we had originally expected.
We never said that we would have a Phase II plan in detail early.

Obviously, others, including the Department of Justice, would
have preferred even more progress, but it is very difficult. If we use
the construction of a building as an example. Phase I is the founda-
tion and the structural steel. Phase II are the upper floors, and we
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don't know how to do the upper floors without first doing the foun-
dation and structural steel.

At the time of the hearing a year ago, there was no central fine

processing center and no courts were on it, as you pointed out, so

let me report briefly on what has been achieved during the past
year. In detail, it is in the written testimony.
But in summary, we have met all of the commitments that we

made—in full and on time. Highlights: We developed business proc-

esses, established a central processing unit, we have trained courts,

and we have brought 25 courts onto the new processing center by

—

we were supposed to bring 23 on by April 26. We have brought 25
on by April 1, so we are slightly ahead.

Financial status since the year-ago hearing: at that time, we re-

ported that we had spent $5.7 million since the inception of the
project. Since then, we have spent $2.5 million more. So in total

now, we have spent $8.2 million, and for 1995 our spending is

within budget.
I will not go into all of the specific accomplishments that were

required to get these 25 courts on because those are in the written
record, other than to say that several of the accomplishments are
important because they represent an acceleration of work, versus
our plan, that is required to implement the Phase II management
information enhancements.
An example is the new central processing unit software. I point-

ed out earlier, we had started with something we had and knew
how to use, and that while we were using that to bring on the first

small courts, with our other hand, we were evaluating successor
software that would have full capability to handle all 94 courts and
to handle all of the cases, new and old.

On top of that, we found one that has a terrific capability for

analytic and reporting usages which will be invaluable for Phase
II. That came on in April. It is functioning now. All 25 courts are

on it. All new courts will be on it. So that is already in place and
that is essentially a pull-ahead of the Phase II, but the important
thing, despite that, is to do Phase II, we must successfully do
Phase I. That is the foundation.

Where do we go from here? Our next objective is to get 38 courts

up by August 26, a month from now, basically. We are on target

and we will achieve that objective. Our next milestone is to have
58 courts up by the end of this calendar year, and then all 94
courts by next August 26, 1996. We expect to meet those objectives.

And we expect to meet the Phase II objectives that we have de-

scribed earlier.

I agree with what Linda said, totally agree with what she said

about the broad point that there are challenges ahead. There is no
question. We face great challenges
Senator McCain. Do you agree with her when she says she finds

it difficult to have confidence that you will be able to carry out
these responsibilities?

Mr. Ames. I said that I agreed that there are great challenges
ahead, but I accept-

—

Senator McCain. Since you were agreeing with her, I just won-
dered if you agreed.
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Mr. Ames. I accept your point and your challenge, and I am con-
fident that we will meet these objectives and that we will succeed.
I say that truthfully and simply.
For Phase I, the challenges ahead are that the court implementa-

tion milestones, and by the way, one of the things we did openly
at the hearing a year ago, we knew we were in a position where
people, including ourselves, were unhappy with the progress, so a
decision point was there a year ago. Do we keep riding this horse,

meaning the AO, to do this or do we change horses? All we had
going for us was that we had completed the planning and develop-
ment effort and we were 2 months into the implementation stage.

Why should you trust us?
We laid out 120-day milestones and a clear plan so that you

could measure whether we did what we said—or whether we made
up something for the hearing, went back, and worked on something
else. We have met each of those milestones. We take them very se-

riously. They are the key performance indicator so you can tell and
others can tell, do we mean what we say? Do we walk our talk?

We are very, very serious about that.

But as we move forward, meeting those next hurdles are more
difficult than meeting the earlier hurdles. Why? Because we are
bringing on larger numbers of courts in each 120-day milestone.
They are bigger courts and more complex courts. We are starting

to bring on the old preexisting cases initially now for the first 25
courts and the doors are open for doing that with each additional
new court that comes on, to bring new and old on just as fast as
the data can be reconciled and brought in, so the volume of work
is going to increase very sharply.
At the same time we are doing that, we have other things to do,

and that is to work on all of the things that we need to put in place

to bring on the larger courts and to move on with Phase II. These
local area networks that you were referring to, those are critical to

have in place in order to support the higher volume, and we are
testing those over the next couple of months. We have ordered
equipment only for the testing at this point in time, but we are
confident the test will work, and we will be installing that equip-
ment over the next several months so that early next calendar
year, that will be in place, and we will need that. That also is a
Phase II pull-ahead, as well as a requirement for the larger courts.

But the preexisting cases all by themselves are a major challenge
to bring on because of the work required to reconcile them and be-

cause, in some cases, the same people who will be converting to the
new process also will be reconciling the old cases. But that is only
an issue during the transition period.

The third challenge that we face for Phase I is doing the network
application servers, doing the new improved software, putting in

place the telecommunications that we need, and each of those is an
important stand-alone effort, but we are confident that we can ac-

complish all these and we will have all of these accomplished and
the Fine Center will be in place in the context of the Phase I prom-
ise by next August.
What will that do? What that will do is, for the first time, we

will have the entire criminal debt database. And let me make just
one other point. While the Fine Center is coming on-stream, are we
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receiving much criminal debt through the Fine Center? The answer
is, no, hardly any, $3.5 million in the first 6 months this year out
of a total of $110 million that the Judiciary has received in the six-

month period. But that was the plan. We never expected to do
more than that. That should not be a surprise.

Now, what about in the next fiscal year? Are we going to be re-

ceiving tons of money through the Fine Center? Not nearly all of

it. Certainly a lot more than $3.5 million, but once we are at the

end of August 1996 and have all of the old cases on, we will have
all of the criminal debt captured, whether it is being received now,
while the Fine Center is being developed by the Judiciary, which
has received $110 million already, or by the Justice Department or

by the Treasury, all of it will be coming through the Fine Center.

For the first time, we will be able to add it all up and slice it

and dice it and provide you the information you would like to have,

the Department of Justice, they would like to have, the Crime Vic-

tims Fund, the information they would like to have. For the first

time, we will have a base point so we can measure the criminal

debt collection effort.

From there, we will be able to measure and demonstrate whether
or not the Fine Center is increasing criminal debt collection by
looking at the totals collected, and I believe they will increase. I be-

lieve that the Crime Victims Fund investors will get not only their

money back but a very handsome return on that money.
Senator McCain. Does that conclude your statement?
Mr. Ames. Yes, sir.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Ames appears on page 42.]

Senator McCain. Thank you very much.
Mr. Stern, welcome.

TESTIMONY OF GERALD M. STERN, SPECIAL COUNSEL,
FINANCIAL INSTITUTION FRAUD, DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

Mr. Stern. Thank you. I will quickly just summarize a few
points, Senator McCain, Senator Dorgan, and Senator Smith.

I am Gerald Stern. I am the Special Counsel for Financial Insti-

tution Fraud for the Department of Justice. The Attorney General
has also designated me to oversee the Department's efforts in debt

collection. I testified before Senator Dorgan a year ago. I welcome
this opportunity to be back this year to give you our perspective on
where we have come in a year.

The Department of Justice is responsible for enforcement of

criminal judgments. When the debtor is in default and has not sat-

isfied a criminal fine, assessment or restitution, then the Depart-

ment steps in, finds, and seizes the defaulted debtor's property. To
enforce this collection, a U.S. Attorney's Office must have quick ac-

cess to accurate information on the current amount of the debt, evi-

dence that the debtor is in default, and the debtor's location.

I think. Senator Dorgan, you phrased it properly. This is a real

time situation. We have to have the information immediately, par-

ticularly if you have discovered a particular bank account and you
want to seize it before it gets moved. Only with this quick and cur-

rent information can the U.S. Attorney request the court to issue

a garnishment order or some other post-judgment remedy.
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With the enactment of the Criminal Fines Improvement Act of

1987, Congress delegated the responsibility for receipt of all crimi-

nal fine, assessment and restitution pajonents to the Judicial

Branch and mandated that the Administrative Office of the Courts
establish a National Fine Center to provide an automated and cen-

tralized debt and payment tracking system. This center was to pro-

vide this accurate and current information to all those charged
with enforcement of collection—the Office of U.S. Probation, the
Department of Justice, its Bureau of Prisons, and the U.S. Attor-

neys Offices.

The establishment of a computerized on-line interactive access

National Fine Center, if completed, would allow the Department of

Justice to concentrate on a distinct number of debtors, namely
those who have failed to pay or who have defaulted on their pay-
ment plans. This would relieve our attorneys and our paralegals

from the clerical work they are now involved in, of processing and
tracking debts from debtors, in fact, from debtors who are not even
in default, people we would not even be bringing enforcement ac-

tions against. We are spending time on that when what we really

should be doing is spending our time on the enforcement efforts

against those who are in default.

The effective enforcement action on these defaulted debtors will

depend on the Department's having quick and easy access to accu-

rate up-to-date information which is to be maintained by the Na-
tional Fine Center.

In February of 1994, the AOUSC and the Department of Justice

jointly agreed to a detailed Phase II functional requirements docu-
ment to set forth the Department of Justice's requirements as a
user for the National Fine Center. To ensure that the system meets
the statutory requirements the Congress has required, and "can be
designed, tested, and implemented in courts nationwide," the re-

quirements document provided, among other things, that the De-
partment of Justice would have on-line interactive access to the
National Fine Center.
At some point after that, the AO apparently abandoned the de-

velopment of the on-line interactive access system set forth in the
requirements document. As an alternative, in February of this

year, the AO proposed to fulfill the need for an on-line system with
this local area network, LAN system, which has been mentioned.
The Fine Center Project Director has advised the Department that
this LAN system will be more efficient and less costly than the
type of on-line interactive system envisioned by our jointly agreed
upon requirements document and that it will provide the Depart-
ment with the on-line access required to perform its enforcement
function.

We certainly hope it will work. However, we have informed
AOUSC that until this LAN system has been tested and is oper-

ational, the Department of Justice cannot agree to the implementa-
tion of the larger districts on the National Fine Center in this

Phase I interim system.
Senator McCain. You clearly would have preferred the on-line

system?
Mr. Stern. Absolutely. We need an on-line, interactive, real-time

system, which is what we now have in each U.S. Attorneys Office,
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because we are doing that because we have to. Nobody else is doing
it for us.

Senator DORGAN. Mr. Stern, I am sorry to interrupt, but I

thought the reason we have to be involved in all this is because
there is not a system, let alone a real-time system, in each U.S. At-

torneys Office.

Mr. Stern. No. The problem is, each Attorneys Office is doing it

without having a national system which allows us to do what you
would like to do with any Citibank or any other major one, call up
the data for the entire nation, find out how much debt is owed,
which of these debts are collectible or not collectible, what is the

particular way in which we can go after these debts.

I think the idea of the national computerized system is a superb
one. We completely support it. I supported it when I testified last

year. The Phase II of that, which was supposed to be this system
which would allow us to actually do the work of enforcing the col-

lection of the debts, is where the on-line interactive system was.

Senator McCain. If I may interrupt, we do things in a little bit

of an unauthorized fashion, but the fact is, this is a very important
point and maybe it would be appropriate to have Mr. Ames respond
at this point as to why the supposed agreement—the Department
of Justice wrote the GAO in February 1994 that a requirements
document was jointly adopted by the AO and DOJ. That document
set forth the plans for the implementation of the NFC system.

During the fall of 1994, the AOUSC and DOJ, that this require-

ments document was no longer guiding the development of the sys-

tem. I take it that was the on-line access portion.

Mr. Stern. Yes, sir, that was the major issue.

Senator McCain. Mr. Ames, perhaps you want to respond to that

right now.
Mr. Ames. Thank you. I appreciate the opportunity.

There are two basic points in the response. First of all, the Feb-

ruary document is not what it is purported to be. It is not a de-

tailed requirements document. What do I mean by that? Let us

suppose that you told me you wanted to buy a vehicle. That is

about the level of specificity of that document. How do I implement
that? I do not know whether you mean a two-door or a four-door.

I do not know whether you want a car, truck, tractor, or semi-trac-

tor trailer, let alone whether you want an eight-cylinder or a six-

cylinder or what color, et cetera.

Senator McCain. The Department of Justice did not make it

clear to you that they wanted an on-line system?
Mr. Ames. Yes, in that degree of specificity, and then they also

said that we withdrew. But, in fact, with one hand they said they

wanted that, and then not too long thereafter they said, however,

you do understand that it is impossible to have and we will not let

you have, direct on-line, system-to-system connectivity between the

Fine Center systems and the Department of Justice systems. That
is a "job-stopper" right there.

So once they said that, they established a requirement that they
wanted on-line interconnectivity. Then they established a rule that

said, but you cannot do it in any way that would be practical, cost

effective, efficient. So then our challenge was, we agreed that they
need on-line interactive
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Senator McCain. So then you went to the LAN system?
Mr. Ames. Right, but it was not intuitively obvious at the time

how to get around that requirement, and so it took a fair amount
of time to develop a way to fmd a substitute way to achieve that

without incurring huge costs or an impractical approach. We could

have set up telephone modems and thousands of telephone
lines

Senator McCain. But the bottom line is, you decided to go to the

local area network computer, is that right?

Mr. Ames. That is our current direction and that is the approach
we are testing and that is the approach we believe. We think that

will provide the on-line interactive connectivity that we all need to

make this system effective. So we have no quarrel with that re-

quirement. We agree, but I do not like the spin that has been put
on it.

Senator McCain. It is your turn to spin, Mr. Stern.

Mr. Stern. When they suggested the LAN system in February,
we asked for some details on it. By May of this year, Dick and I

meet almost monthly—I try to do it even more than that—I finally

sat down and wrote Dick when we did not have one of our meetings
and I said that our current plans call for the implementation of 24
districts in this Phase IIL Completion of Phase III implementation
will result in 49 districts participating in the NFC project.

We think it is impractical and unwise to implement any addi-

tional districts beyond these 49 unless and until, and I listed four

requirements I thought necessary if this LAN system they were
proposing was coming on line.

One, that the Fine Center is fully automated for the first 49 dis-

tricts. I did not think we should go beyond 49 in a non-automated
way, and that the new districts will be implemented on that fully-

automated system. That was my first point.

Second, that all 49 districts and all districts to be implemented
can communicate electronically with the Fine Center so that paper
establishment forms and maintenance forms are no longer re-

quired. We are, at the moment, in an interim system where we are

doing paper at the same time that our courts or our U.S. Attorneys
are required to continue with their old system.
Three, that the existing cases in the U.S. Attorney data base for

the 49 courts would be successfully transferred to the National
Fine Center. Dick is right, that is a major problem. We ought to

make certain we get it done with the 49 courts before we go fur-

ther.

And four, that summary information is transferred and may con-

tinue to be transferred by tape from the National Fine Center to

the AOUSC central system for the 49 districts. The problem here
was, and I think Mr. Ames has pointed it out again today, we have
been dealing with small courts, small U.S. Attorneys Offices. As we
move into the bigger ones, this will not work. This present system,
where we do manual at the same time that we are trying to do the
old system, it cannot work in a big district. There are not enough
people available or enough time when you get thousands of debts.

Just to be more specific. North Dakota, 175 criminal debts were
opened in fiscal year 1994. They are in this Phase I interim sys-

tem. A district of that type can continue to deal with the old and
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the new at the same time. Arizona, at 2,084 debts, criminal debts
opened in fiscal year 1994, we cannot allow the U.S. Attorneys Of-

fice in Arizona to be brought onto a new system when it has not
been tested yet in the smaller districts.

So I have constantly, since this May 25 letter, been suggesting
that what we need to do is try the LAN system. It has not been
tested an3^where yet. Try the LAN system in these smaller courts,

make certain that it works, make certain that we have this inter-

play back and forth, the on-line access, use it as a pilot. Forty-nine
districts would be in the range of maybe 25 percent of the criminal
debts in this country on our inventory. Then roll out the system
with the bigger courts and the bigger U.S. Attorneys Offices.

Truthfully, that is where we have had a communications break-
down. I am a customer. I am reljdng upon my supplier. I cannot
stop him from proceeding with what he is doing but I can contin-

ually suggest that, OK, the LAN system may be a good idea. Let
us try it out in a small 49-district situation and see if it works.
Senator McCain. What is wrong with that logic, Mr. Ames?
Mr. Ames. I think this is helpful because what you have heard

is an opportunity to see the challenge that exists when you have
one group, namely the Administrative Office, who understands that

it has the responsibility for implementing the National Fine Center
project with a number of customers, including a very large one, the
Department of Justice.

But the Department of Justice has been, while helpful in some
ways, challenging in other ways, and this is an example of the
challenge. We have had a tremendous amount of input from the
Department of Justice about what they want, but much of what
they want comes in a later stage of the plan. What we have trouble

getting from
Senator McCain. Before we stray off on that, let us just address

Mr. Stern's specific point of trying this LAN system with 49 dis-

tricts and then see if it works before we expand it. That is clearly

in Phase I, is it not?
Mr. Ames. Let me try a shorter answer. We believe our respon-

sibility is to figure out how to implement this and to do it, and the

Department of Justice's responsibility is two-fold, to identify their

requirements in a way that we can meet them in the specificity re-

quired and on a timely basis and it is not to tell us how to do it,

to speculate whether what we are going to do will work or not. It

is our responsibility to make it work. We want them to deal with
what we have to do now to take the next step, not what we have
to do 10 months from now.

I do not know if that answered your question or not. If it did not,

please ask me again.
Senator McCain. It does to an extent, but it seems to me that

if I went to a computer store and I said, I want you to set up a
certain system in my home or in my business, then I would be in-

terested in making sure that one part of it worked before I pur-
chased the next part of it. I would be interested in the mechanics
and modalities of it because I would be paying the bill for it. I am
the one that should be driving the problem. It is not the seller, the
buyer should be, because what you are supplying should be tailor-

ing my needs and very specifically so.
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I think that Ms. Koontz's comment about a communications prob-
lem here is becoming more and more abundantly clear. It is very
hard for me or other members of this Committee to make a judg-
ment here, but it seems to me that we should not have to be ven-
tilating these differences in a Congressional hearing. Maybe it is a
little bit unorthodox, but there is such division of opinion here that
I think each should be given a chance to respond, since there seems
to be a fairly wide gap here in that aspect of the problem.
Mr. Ames. I may be able to better illustrate my point by giving

you a couple of examples. We have needed strong support from the
Department of Justice, initially to orient and train the courts and
to persuade the courts about the importance of this priority and to

get the U.S. Attorneys Office in each court to be a willing partici-

pant. It was a challenge to gain that support on a real time basis
when we needed it.

It has been a challenge to get the old cases entered for the 25
courts already on the system. We were able to get the new cases
on those courts, and we could have brought the old cases on in the
same way we brought the new cases on, and, in fact, that is what
many of the courts preferred to do. They wanted to reconcile the
cases gradually and feed them in as they got them done.
But the Executive Office of the U.S. Attorneys, as opposed to

each U.S. Attorney, had a different view and wanted to do it one-
time nationally, electronically and it has resulted in a several-

month delay. I do not know when we are going to get those cases,

but there is not any reason why they cannot be on now, other than
this difference of priorities within the Department of Justice.

Lastly, we have been working for some time on automating the
complex penalty and interest calculations, and in order to do that,

we need detailed input and agreement on processes that are inter-

nal to the Department of Justice and the U.S. Attorneys Offices.

We finally got those at a time when we had already done a lot of

the work and then they changed them, so we have to redo it and
we still do not have it done.
That is what I mean about timely input, as opposed to worrying

about some of the Phase II enhancements which we are going to

do, and will do, and must do in order to bring the progressively
larger courts on. We understand what we have to do, and we know
when to do it, and we will do it.

Senator McCain. This is kind of open-ended, I guess, but there
is not a standard formula for interest and fines?

Mr. Ames. While there is a lot that is standard, there is also

flexibility for interpretation. An example would be when somebody
gets out of jail, when do we start the clock and how do we decide
whether they are in default? Another would be, what do you do

Senator McCain. There is not a standard for that?
Mr. Ames. There is a standard but there is also room for inter-

pretation.

Senator McCain. Thank you.
Mr. Stern, I would like you to continue with one of the longest

opening statements we have had.
Mr. Stern. Actually, I think I am at the end. We have been able

to communicate. We have been meeting quite often. This letter of

May 25 is only one of 6 or 7 times in which I have reiterated the
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very same point. It is not a question of communication. It is a ques-
tion, I cannot make my supplier do something different than the
suppher wants to do, which their view is that they would like to

continue to bring each court on and measure this as success.

I have been able to persuade the U.S. Attorneys to proceed with
that so long as we have been dealing with smaller districts in the
hopes that we would eventually be able to have a system available

that would work in the bigger districts. We do not have such a sys-

tem yet.

Mr. Ames said it correctly. The next hurdles are the more dif-

ficult. That is what he just testified. We are getting to the bigger,

more complex courts. That is true. The volume is going to be bigger

because we are bringing the older cases on. He said it would be
critical to have in place this work on the Phase II LAN system to

support the higher volume. That is absolutely right. My point is,

we should not go beyond this first 25 percent of all the debts until

we have in place this LAN system tested and working.
Truthfully, for the courts that are on-line, the districts that are

on-line already, this has been somewhat of a double-tracking prob-

lem. They have had to keep the old system in place while they
work on the new system.

I will be real specific. What they have to do is fill out a 4-page
maintenance form to send to the National Fine Center. That is in

addition to what they are already doing on their own system in

putting the information in and going after the debt. That might be
OK in a smaller district, but you get to a bigger district, to have
them doing that at the same time, I do not think makes sense.

That is why I said, I think it is unwise and impractical to pro-

ceed beyond this, what I consider a 25 percent pilot. Let us see if

it works and then roll it out with all the other districts. I do not

see that there is any great advantage in saying that another court

is on-line if it is not on-line with a system that is usable by us.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Stern appears on page 47.]

Senator McCain. Just one second, Mr. Ames.
Ms. Koontz, since you have made the mistake of staying here, do

you have a view on that? [Laughter.]

Ms. Koontz. I think the discussion about the access the Depart-
ment of Justice is seeking to the National Fine Center does point

out some of the flaws, shall we say, in the "Just do it" approach.

I think that one thing that may have helped this situation and
what one normally does in systems development, would be to agree

on the requirements up front and agree, also, on how we will meet
these requirements in the future, before we start implementing. I

think, had that been done, we probably would not be having these

disagreements today.

Senator McCain. Yes, sir?

Mr. Ames. Three points now. The first is that as soon as the old

cases are on for the 25 existing courts, there is no reason for the

Department to run a duplicate system, and they would not have
had to up to this point in time except by their own choice.

Two, with respect to the point that Ms. Koontz just made, I

would reiterate the earlier point I made, which is, in my opinion,

this is much more of a business process implementation than a sys-

tems process—and it's not rocket science, and that what we all



24

need, meaning everybody involved in this and particularly the folks

in the courts, is time to practice.

The sooner we get courts' feet wet which we have done by bring-

ing on the new cases first and then the old and buying time, start

getting information in, but buying time to develop, learn, and ad-
just as we go—we provide exactly that important practice. It's

much easier for people to work their way gradually into a new way
than to go like a light switch, from light to dark in a split second.
Senator McCain. Is that not Mr. Stern's argument?
Mr. Ames. No. I hear it just the opposite. I hear it really as a
Senator McCain. He says, wait and see if it works with the 49

before you continue to expand the LAN system.
Mr. Ames. Right. He said to wait. That is loud and clear. One

of the things we learned during the first 4 years, which has been
a frustration to me, to you, and to most of the others involved in

this, is that there has been too much waiting, too many reasons to

hold off, too many reasons to go slow, and as long as we know we
are going in the right direction and as long as we are not making
serious mistakes, my assessment is that we are a lot farther along
today than we could have been. We could have easily not had the
first court up yet, if we continued to wait for all those who wanted
to wait for something.

Senator McCain. I am not sure that is a fair depiction of Mr.
Stern's position here, and I am not trying to take sides, but I do
not think he is saying you should not have brought it. I think he
wants to test the present system before it is expanded into the
other courts.

Mr. Ames. We are testing as we go, sir.

Senator McCain. I thank you.
Senator Smith?
Senator Smith. It is very frustrating. It kind of reminds me of

John Madden trying to describe a reverse play that does not suc-
ceed. The ball is handed off three or four times and then there is

an incomplete pass in there somewhere where the quarterback gets
the ball back and we are back where we started from with no gain.

He would have the chart up there with the diagram when he was
doing it.

If there is a communications problem, Mr. Stern, or, frankly, Mr.
Ames, communications is a two-way street, is it not? If one contin-

ues to blame the other for the problem, you are never going to re-

solve it. You have to look in the mirror, right?
Mr. Ames. I could not agree more.
Mr. Stern. I do not blame them for the problem. I am sa3dng we

have a problem and I propose a solution. I cannot impose a solu-

tion. I can only propose a solution.

Senator Smith. Who can impose one?
Mr. Ames. I think we are, if I might answer your question. Com-

pared with a year ago, we have made dramatic progress because
we have gone from nothing to something—on our way to comple-
tion in only 14 more months, and I say "only" 14 more because it

is 14 months since we have started. So I think we have made

—

"we" being the aggregate we, not the AO, all players—I think we
have come a long way, from not even understanding the game to

have 25 courts plajdng and to be well along in doing everything
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that Mr. Stern has said that we need to do. We plan to do all that.

We are doing it, and we will have these things in place in order

to implement it.

Senator Smith. Assuming that the comment that Senator
McCain made in his opening statement about $4.5 billion in uncol-

lected debt, assuming that is relatively accurate, how much of that

is truly realistic?

Mr. Ames. We do not know. That is why we need the Fine Cen-
ter.

Senator Smith. You can get an idea, can you not? If you fine a
white collar criminal who has tremendous assets and serves 6
months and gets out, I think you have a better shot at it than
someone who is—maybe you do not. It is relatively accurate, is it

not? If you break this out into percentages, what is the percentage
between white collar and non-white collar?

Senator McCain. Mr. Stern might know that.

Mr. Stern. I think an easier way to answer your question. Sen-
ator Smith, is that we have asked each of the U.S. Attorneys' Of-

fices to review all of the debts under a new suspense policy which
we have sent out as of April of this year. When I was here last

year. Senator Dorgan asked me about this question and he was
right. Much, if not most of this debt, is probably not collectible.

What we ought to be doing is focusing our attention and priorities

on the collectible portions of that debt.

What we discovered when we asked the U.S. Attorneys to sus-

pend the debts was that under our then-present rules, if you were
in jail, our procedures did not allow for suspension of the debt, or

if you were paying any nominal amount, it did not allow for any
suspension.
Senator SMITH. I am far from an expert on this and I am not try-

ing to be confrontational, but it would just seem to me, without
making any editorial comment upon the justification for the fine or

the fine being linked to the crime, which is the judge's prerogative
and I do not challenge that, but it just seems to me, as a relative

layman, sitting here and hearing both of you, it sounds to me as
if somebody imposes a fine, a judge, which is probably unrealistic

to collect and then we set up this process that both of you fight

about as to how not to be able to collect it.

Somehow, interject there and tell me where I am off base on
that.

Mr. Stern. The first answer is that we are collecting a signifi-

cant amount of fines. In fact, our collections this year for the Crime
Victims Fund actually are up over last year. So we are actually
still out there collecting. U.S. Attorneys do that. The issue with re-

spect to the National Fine Center is how to do it more efficiently,

how to make certain we have real-time information on what we are
doing with respect to this debt.

Senator Smith. Can you attach? Do you attach wages?
Mr. Stern. Oh, yes. We garnish wages.
Senator Smith. Just a curiosity question, and it is not meant to

be confrontational so please do not take it that way. Just out of cu-
riosity, Mr. Stern, you are Special Counsel for Financial Institution
Fraud, yet you were placed in charge of this project rather than
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someone from the Criminal Division. Was there any particular rea-
son for that?
Mr. Stern. I guess the reason is the Attorney General asked me

to do it. That is the simple reason.
The more complicated reason is that this is a coordinating effort

within the Justice Department itself. We deal with the Justice
Management Division, I deal with the Criminal Division, I deal
with the U.S. Attorneys Offices, and in my position at the Deputy
Attorney General's Office, I have a little more say and a little more
response from the various groups I deal with, including AOUSC, so

I think that was why she did this.

Senator Smith. I do not really have any more questions.
Senator McCain. Thank you.
Just two quick questions, Mr. Ames. How much money do you

project being spent before this system is fully operational?
Mr. Ames. We do not have a detailed projection that would take

us all the way through fully operational.

Senator McCain. Do you have an estimate?
Mr. Ames. We have spent $2.5 million since the last hearing and

we would expect to spend about another $1.7 million between now
and the end of the fiscal year. As we start to buy equipment, like

the network application servers, then the expenditures will start to

increase over the next fiscal year, and we are presently putting a
budget in place for that right now, but it is based on an equipment
survey, as well, which is underway.
Senator McCain. Should we not have an estimate of the total

cost of any plan that we enact?
Mr. Ames. You mean a total forecast of how much? We believe

that the funding that has already been allocated will be adequate.
Senator McCain. Which is?

Mr. Ames. Which is we have allocated, as of this moment, about
$19 million with another $6 million coming in this fiscal year, so
that would make it a total of $25 million. That would be, we be-
lieve, adequate to implement this whole system.

Senator McCain. So again, how much money do you expect to be
spent before the system is fully operational?
Mr. Ames. I cannot answer that question, and I will give you an

illustration why. In order to make the kind of projections that you
are talking about, it would require that we would have taken the
time out, not have 25 courts up, but instead have figured out how
we were going to do it. We did not know until—and we still do not
know for sure—that we will be using the network application serv-

ers and that is not something that we knew 6 months ago because
we were still inventing the concept.
So it is hard to make projections if you have not gotten all of the

pieces developed, but because it is not rocket science, it is not as
challengiiig as getting a man to the moon. We believe that the
funding room that we have is adequate.
The other side of the equation is, we are being extraordinarily

frugal with the Crime Victim Fund's money.
Senator McCain. Mr. Ames, the taxpayers of America have a

right to know how much a project is going to cost. We do not say,
build a B-2 bomber and they say, gee, we are going to develop it

as we go along. We do not do things like that, Mr. Ames. Congress



27

and the taxpayers of America need to know how much this is going

to cost. One reason is to know what the cost-benefit ratio is here.

I do not know what kind of a time out you need in order to make
an estimate of what the cost of a project would be, but I would al-

most demand that you provide to the Congress and the American
people an estimate of how much this is going to cost. Frankly, I do

not remember an occasion where I have heard of embarking on a

project and not knowing what the cost would be, or at least having
an estimate of what the cost would be.

Mr. Ames. I apologize. I misunderstood your question. I made it

much more complex.
Senator McCain. I asked it twice. I will try one more time.

Mr. Ames. Thank you.

Senator McCain. How much money do you project being spent

before the system is fully operational?

Mr. Ames. I appreciate your patience. We expect that we will

complete the project within the—for $25 million and that is our es-

timate.

Senator McCain. Your estimate is that it will cost $25 million to

make the project fully operational? Thank you very much.
Where is the plan for Phase II?

Mr. Ames. We have not completed the plan for Phase II, nor had
we—we have not reached that point in the time table where we
had said we would.

Senator Smith. Mr. Chairman, could I ask a question? Senator
Dorgan, I know it is your time.

Senator McCain. Go ahead, Senator Smith.
Senator Smith. This is just a follow-up question along that line.

Mr. Bien, who is going to testify, I guess, after you, from Andersen
Consulting, in his statement says—I am kind of preempting his

statement here, but it said that 18 months ago, his firm deter-

mined that the full implementation of this whole Fine Center could

be done at about $10 million lower than what you have done.

Was that information available to you? Do you agree with it or

disagree with it?

Mr. Ames. The first time I heard about that was this morning,
when we received or obtained that statement. I had not been aware
of the Andersen Consulting proposal before, and I would have a
question about the $15 million, and the question would be whether
that included all of the equipment, because much of the $25 million

will be equipment. We need to make sure we can compare apples
with apples there.

Senator McCain. A final comment, and I promise it is a final

comment. Mr. Stern is the customer and you are the supplier. It

seems to me, unless you get into something which is technically not
feasible or prohibited by cost, that you should, to a large degree,
try to accommodate the needs and requirements of the user, not
the supplier. That is just, I think, the way we do business in life.

Senator Dorgan?
Senator DORGAN. I agree with that, and it is important to use

the word "need" rather than "want". If one goes and circulates to

find out what are wants, then the sky is the limit. The question
is, what are the needs within the resources that are available.
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As I understand where we are, we have $4.5 billion or so owed
to the Federal Government in fines and restitution orders against

people who have committed crimes, and 90 to 95 percent of those

are not collected. Last year during the hearing, we were talking

about one of the districts, I believe in the Carolinas, where you
were doing some work. We went into the judicial district and found
out that, for somewhere between 30 and 36 percent of the fines and
restitutions, there were no addresses in that district for the people

who owe the money.
You start asking, "are these collectible?" Not if you cannot find

the folks, they are not collectible. You have a criminal justice sys-

tem in which the person has been brought into the system, has
been judged guilty of a crime and assessed a fine, and then all of

a sudden, we cannot find the person? We do not have an address?

If I owe somebody money—I want to owe this system money, I

think. I think they are the least likely system to collect money in

the United States. The reason I make this point is that Mr. Stern

pointed out that this system exists out there. I have a hunch that

it does not exist at all and that is why we are here, trying to figure

out how can you construct a system that does exist.

It would not be much of a system if in the judicial district, they

do not have addresses for a third of the folks who are on their list

of who owes them money. That is a system where it is chaos. They
cannot possibly manage a system like that.

Would you not agree that we just have a chaotic system out

there that is failing?

Mr. Stern. I think, more specifically, we ought to point out that

one of the benefits of this National Fine Center to date has been
this effort that the Administrative Office has been involved in to

get an automated judgment and commitment order that every

judge would agree to use. That is quite a big step forward.

I do not think Mr. Ames has been given enough credit for how
difficult his job is in dealing with many different judges, each of

whom wants to do it his own way. So that has been a big step for-

ward, and I think you probably have more in the way of addresses
now than you did at the time of the audit.

Senator DORGAN. You are going to really confuse us if you start

complimenting Mr. Ames. [Laughter.]

Mr. Stern. All I am doing is proposing a solution to a particular

problem.
Senator Dorgan. I understand. When I received my MBA, I

worked in the aerospace industry for a company. I was just think-

ing about if the folks that I worked with in that company were con-

fronted with this challenge. Again, I was going back to last year's

testimony in which I think Mr. Ames, or Mr. Wray, I guess, said

that one of the problems in getting this started was it took over

a year to reconcile 2,500 accounts in one of the districts. I asked
the question, "how can it take a year to reconcile 2,500 accounts?"

It seems to me that our expectations of a bureaucracy in the Ju-
dicial Branch here, combined or connected to the Executive Branch
may not be able to be fulfilled. Maybe the bureaucracy here is so

convoluted that you cannot plug things together. I would hope that

is not the case.
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I would hope that you can tell folks who collect their paycheck
from the Federal Government, notably judges, among others, that
this is the way you have to do things. You assess a fine, you send
the form in. The form gets sent to this place and it gets recorded.
Somebody in this area starts trying to collect with dispatch against
someone who might be disposing of assets, even as the form is sent
in. I do not understand how it is so complex.
Mr. Ames, I did not mean to say that I could do it this morning

or tomorrow morning. I do not want to make light of the dilemma
one has in constructing a new system, but we also understand that
this is being done with money that represents an investment from
the Victims Fund. Frankly, they do not think that they are getting

a whole lot for the investment they have made.
I guess the central question that we want to ask today is, are we

going to get to a destination, and if we get to a destination, do we
have Mr. Stern saying, "I am sorry, we need real-time information.
We need a set of circumstances you are not going to offer." We are
going to get to that destination and you will have a customer that
is not getting the product. We will have a customer who says "we
are not going to use this. We are going to set up a separate com-
panion system." We already know the system you have, Mr. Stern.

You do not have addresses for 35 percent of the folks. That is not
a system I want in the future.

I am just wondering if we are going to get to some future that
represents what Congress expects with this money. Give us some
confidence about that, if you can. If not, maybe we should just de-

cide that this was a giant mistake. We can find another way to get
this done quicker and better.

Mr. Ames?
Senator Smith. Turn it over to a collection agency and let them

chase them down.
Mr. Ames. The confidence would be as follows. A year ago, we

had no courts up. All you had was our promise. We told you what
we would do. We laid out milestones so you could measure us. We
have done more than we promised. We are halfway there, 14 out
of 28 months for Phase I. Phase I finishes August 26, 1996. When
it is finished, we will have most of what we have been talking
about today.
Early next calendar year, with the network application servers in

place and functioning and with the software that we have devel-
oped and have out there now, and with the telecommunications
interfaces that we are putting in place, we will have next calendar
year, and by August, before August, what Mr. Stern has asked for.

So a lot of the discussion today has been "point-in-time."
One of Ms. Koontz's comments were that we were doing a lot of

things manually, her opening point, including calculating penalty
and interest. We have already gone by those. That was as of No-
vember/December. Today, those are all being done in an automated
way. We have got our final software solution, which runs the
central processing unit, in place. It is proven; it is running.
So there is a lot to be confident about and there is a lot of reason

to expect, if we were to have a hearing next August, that we would
be able to report success, that the Fine Center will be in place.
Phase I completed, and looking back at today's record, we would

92-609 O - 96 - -^
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find that, in fact, all those issues, many of them, had been solved

and we had the base point to move forward for the first time, and
we got it only 2 years from roughly the time of the first hearing

on this subject, June 28, a year ago, which you chaired.

Senator DORGAN. I want to have confidence in this, but I under-

stand, too, that we are talking about a very small percentage incre-

ment here that has been put on the system. It is like trying to

climb Mount Everest and we are still at the hotel, let alone getting

to first base camp, and talking about how well things are going.

Everybody says things are going fine the night before you start the

trip.

I am just wondering whether we are talking about, if you are

halfway through Phase I and have really no plan, as you have indi-

cated to Senator McCain, with respect to Phase II in the next 3 to

5 years to get where we all want to get, I am wondering if we all

have the confidence
Mr. Ames. Our plan for Phase I, which we described a year ago,

was this kind of a plan, and we are on track for that and confident

we will meet it. I would not be saying today in open forum that

we plan to meet it if we were not confident we could do it. All I

can offer you is our track record to date, which is a lot more for

you to go on than you had a year ago, which was a promise, no per-

formance.
Senator DoRGAN. Mr. Chairman, I shall not ask more questions,

but let me tell you this. I want, at the end of this process, I want
there to be a system where, when somebody who bilks us—and
you, Mr. Stern, would know better than most about how we were
bilked in the 1980s with junk bond scams and colossal amounts of

criminal activity in the S&L industry, and we convict somebody
like that and levy a fine, I want that person to feel hot breath be-

hind their neck with a collection effort that says, if you have
money, we are going to get it. You are going to pay this fine the
Federal Government levied against you for defrauding people in

this country.
Frankly, my own sense is, with the current system, most of those

folks are probably mopping their brow saying, "I am sure glad it

is the Feds I owe that to because they are the least likely folks to

collect it." We want to change that and the question is not whether,
it is how, and that is the purpose of this hearing.
Mr. Chairman, I have no further questions.

Senator McCain. Thank you. Senator Dorgan.
Thank you all very much.
Senator McCain. We will put our third and fourth panel together

here. It is Mr. Ken Bien, who is the Director of the Americas Jus-
tice and Public Safety Team of Andersen Consulting, Mr. Mike
Insco, who is the President of Margate Systems, and Mr. David
Beatty, who is Executive Director of the National Victim Center.
Welcome to the witness, Mr. Bien. Thank you for being here

today and I thank all three of you for your patience.

TESTIMONY OF M. KENNETH BIEN, DIRECTOR, AMERICAS
JUSTICE AND PUBLIC SAFETY TEAM, ANDERSEN CONSULTING
Mr. Bien. Thank you. Senator McCain and members of the Com-

mittee, thank you for the opportunity to testify about how the pri-
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vate sector would implement a solution to support the efforts of the
U.S. Department of Justice and the Administrative Office of the
U.S. Courts to collect criminal debts and fines.

For over 2 decades, working with national, State, provincial, and
local governments, Andersen Consulting has designed and imple-
mented criminal justice solutions through technology and change
management. We work with clients to help integrate people, proc-

esses, strategies, and technologies in order to improve efficiency

and achieve their organizational mission. Andersen Consulting em-
ploys more than 32,000 professionals in 152 offices in 47 countries.

As Director of Andersen's Justice and Public Safety Practice, I

have managed the development of numerous National and State-

wide solutions to many of the challenges facing the criminal and
civil justice systems today. Each of these approaches represents a
unique public-private sector partnership.

I will summarize my remarks and would like to ask that my
written statement be entered into the record.

Senator McCain. Without objection. Thank you, Mr. Bien.

Mr. BlEN. The main point of my testimony today is simple. Re-
gardless of whether the Government or the private sector or some
combination thereof actually performs the work necessary, it is pos-

sible to put in place an effective nationwide collection system for

criminal debts within 18 months for $15 million, more than $10
million less than the current estimates for a system.
When the Criminal Fines Improvement Act was passed in 1987,

the intentions of the U.S. Congress were noble, but good intentions
also require good strategy, good planning, and good implementa-
tion. We are here today because, 8 years later, we are still awaiting
the system that fulfills the good intentions of Congress.

I am here today because in 1993, crime victims groups expressed
their concerns to Andersen Consulting about their perceived lack of

progress by the National Fine Center in establishing an effective

system to collect billions of dollars.

Later in 1993, I contacted the project team from the National
Fine Center to try and better understand the challenges they face

in implementing the Crime Fines Improvement Act. These meet-
ings resulted in our development of a proposal to the National Fine
Center in January 1994. That proposal outlined a public-private

sector solution to the immense problems associated with integra-

tion a collection system for 94 Federal Districts which would,
among other things, reconcile $4.5 billion in existing debts.

What constitutes successful implementation? Simply, there are
three factors we proposed. First, a cost-effective, proven, and avail-

able solution that would meet the business requirements of the
Crime Fines Improvement Act.

Second, rapid implementation of collecting past-due debts and es-

tablishing a system to collect these debts in the most expedient
time to benefit victims.

Third, we propose a system that would be easily expandable to

meet the substantial increases in criminal fines and debts.
Here is a brief conceptual overview of the solution proposed by

Andersen Consulting 18 months ago, and this is found on page 6
of Appendix A of my written testimony.
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Once the fine has been assessed by the convicted offender, the
Clerk of the Federal District Court enters that information into the
NFC processing center. This information is processed overnight
with a payment book, much like a car or a house payment coupon
book, sent immediately to the convicted offender through certified

mail with receipt acknowledged.
On a monthly basis, the offender would send the payment and

the coupon to a centralized bank lockbox to be processed against
the existing debt by the central processing center. The central proc-

essing center prepares and disseminates payments to either the
VOCA fund for victim compensation and assistance or directly to

the victim of the crime to fulfill restitution orders.

The center will handle all accounting, payment receipt and appli-

cation, interest and penalty computation, victim and convicted of-

fender reporting, and be used as the national central data reposi-

tory. In addition, the enforcement activities by the U.S. Attorney
and others would be connected on-line real-time basis to the central
processing center for that information.
The project that we proposed in January 1994 entailed an 18-

month solution which would meet Congress's mandates. It included
a 1-month needs assessment to define the overall system require-
ments based on the knowledge transfer from proven existing solu-

tions; development of a prototype, which would include a long-term
plan and business approach, selection of appropriate hardware, and
modification of existing software, and defining effective collection

processes.

To pilot the solution, we would establish the central processing
center and implement the pilot program in five districts, one small,
two medium, and two large. Finally, we would roll out the solution
nationwide to the remaining districts.

Eighteen months ago, our proposal cost was $15 million for a so-

lution that today would have placed all 94 Federal Districts on-line
in a national integrated collection system.
Senator McCain. Who did you make that proposal to?

Mr. BlEN. To the Manager of the National Fine Center team, the
Project Manager at that time.
Senator McCain. What happened to your proposal?
Mr. BlEN. I was notified by him that it was not accepted.
Mr. Chairman, through the approach we proposed to the Na-

tional Fine Center 18 months ago and outlined here today, we have
the opportunity to make criminals fully accountable for their ac-

tions and to ease the financial, physical, and emotional burdens
that crime victims now endure.
Whether Andersen Consulting or some other entity performs the

work, my point is that it can be done quicker and more economi-
cally. It is never too late to do it right.

I will be pleased to answer any questions that you or the Com-
mittee may have.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Bien appears on page 49.]

Senator McCain. Does the cost, your proposed cost, include cost
of equipment? That is what Mr. Ames wondered.
Mr. Bien. Yes, sir, it did. What you are talking about is client

server types of applications which are work stations, personal com-
puters, and network systems.
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Senator McCain. You heard Mr. Stern's concerns about on-line

access?
Mr. BiEN. Yes, sir.

Senator McCain. Does your proposal include that?
Mr. BlEN. Absolutely. Under enforcement, the U.S. Attorneys as

well as the other interested enforcement agencies would have on-

line access to the records necessary to do the enforcement.
Senator McCain. Your organization is not a fly-by-night outfit?

Mr. BlEN. No, sir. [Laughter.]

Senator McCain. You have been around for some time?
Mr. BlEN. We are about 70 years old. Andersen Consulting is one

of the world's largest systems integrators.

Senator McCain. How many employees do you have?
Mr. BlEN. Thirty-two thousand throughout the world.
Senator McCain. And you do this kind of work for businesses

and corporations?
Mr. BlEN. We do this for many of the Fortune 500 companies in

the United States and many of the largest companies in the world.
We work both with the public sector as well as the private sector.

About 15 percent of our business is with the public sector and 85
percent is with the private sector.

Senator McCain. When you say the public sector, do you mean
the Federal Government or do you mean all Government?
Mr. BlEN. All Government, Federal, State, and local.

Senator McCain. Thank you very much.
Mr. Insco, welcome.

TESTIMONY OF MICHAEL A. INSCO, PRESIDENT, MARGATE
SYSTEMS, INC.

Mr. Insco. Thank you. Senator.
Senator I would like to indicate to you that I am President of a

small company by the name of Margate Systems, which has, in ef-

fect, developed and installed restitution systems that are used
throughout the country and answers many of the problems that we
have heard discussed today. In fact, we participated with Andersen
Consulting 18 months ago in a proposal.

Before I became President of Margate Systems, I was an elected
prosecuting attorney and, in fact, was an elected prosecuting attor-

ney in the State of Missouri for 12 years. I have been very active
in the victims movement for the last 20 years. I started the first

victim witness program in the four-State region of Missouri, Iowa,
Nebraska, and Missouri [sic].

I continue this day to lecture for the National Victim Center, the
National Organization of Victim Assistance, the Association of Pa-
roling Authorities, International, the American Probation Associa-
tion, and the American Restorative Justice Association, which is

formerly the American Restitution System, which has, in fact, en-
dorsed our software. I have also been very involved with victims'
rights to the extent that I authored JVIissouri's constitutional
amendment for victims' rights that was passed in 1992.

I have been following the National Victim Center since 1990 and
it has certainly been a very frustrating endeavor. I would like to
direct my remarks and organize them in basically two prongs. The
first is outcome measurement. What is it that we have gotten from
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the National Fine Center? As victims, what is it that the victims

have got? And secondly, is the National Fine Center any closer

today than it was 18 months ago or, for that matter, 10 years ago?
I would strongly answer, in my experience, that the National

Fine Center is no closer today to being a reality than it was 10
years ago. I also indicate to you that I believe that victims have
made a very, very poor investment of their money in a system that
has only cost them money and, in fact, has not returned anything
to them.
Victims have invested $6.7 million with the National Fine Center

and they have collected $6.4 million, a net loss of $300,000 for vic-

tims. That is assuming that that $6.4 million would not have been
collected anyway. We do not know that that $6.4 million would not

have been collected, and I would suggest that that is probably the

case, simply because, according to the testimony I have heard today
and in my experience with what the National Fine Center is doing,

they are not doing a collection system, they are doing an account-
ing system, which I would like to go into in a little more detail

down the line.

Frankly, one of the main problems and one of the things that I

think Congress and certainly yourself should be given more respect

is that you should be given some baselines. How in the world are

you supposed to judge the success or failure of anjdhing without
any baselines? There are statistical ways to create a sample to find

out what kind of money is out there.

In our experience, when these numbers, $4.5 million are thrown
around, that is just an average. We really do not know. The Fine
Center does not really know how much money is out there. In fact,

we were told that it is somewhere between $1.6 billion and $6 bil-

lion, and I do not see anything that has changed that, and I do not
see any way that anybody has any better information than that in-

formation 18 months ago.

It seems to me that the way this should be measured is the
amount of money that is collected, period. How much money has
been collected for victims? Until we get that baseline, we will not
be able to judge it. To have someone sit here and tell me that they
are going to spend X-amount of dollars or that they have put so

many people to work is only a measurement of process. It does not
tell me how successful they have been.

I want a measurement of the outcome. I want to know how much
more money is going to go to victims' groups in the State of Mis-
souri and the State of Arkansas or the State of Arizona. I want to

know how people are going to be helped by this money. Certainly,

until we get this kind of baseline, we cannot judge success or fail-

ure. We do not even know what types of cases we have. We do not
know what the amount of money is, so we cannot judge success or

failure.

Another point that I would like to look at in terms of outcome
measurement is that inaction here is enormously costly. If you can
see the graph, I have tried to demonstrate here that as each day
goes by, more money becomes either uncollectible because of statue
or limitations or becomes unenforceable because of the inability to

find these people, that that $4.5 million gets smaller and smaller
and smaller.



35

In fact, if the truth be known, I beheve that in the past 18
months, more money has fallen off the table than it would take to

fund this entire project.

What is possible? There are a lot of States and counties in this

country that are really doing a fairly good job at this stuff. Wash-
ington State does a really good job, for example. Ventura County,
California, they consistently have a collection rate—and we are

talking difficult collections, people who are not even on supervision,

and the vast majority of these people are on supervision—they col-

lect in excess of 88 percent. The National Fine Center is collecting

less than 10. There is huge potential for the sake of victims here.

Secondly, is the National Fine Center any closer today than it

was 18 months ago or than it was 10 years ago? According to what
I have heard today and what I can see, I simply believe that they
are not. In fact, we are probably further away from a solution

today than we were 18 months ago.

The reason I say that is, first of all, look what it is that the vic-

tims have gotten for their money. They have gotten an expensive
bureaucracy that has, because of the samples that they have cho-

sen, they have the number of accounts per person is less than 100.

Typically, around the country, collection specialists manage be-

tween 1,000 and 2,500 cases for collection.

Also, if you will take a look at the GAO report, you will see that

there are no collections specialists proposed and that 60 percent of

the staff are managers and accountants. In other words, it is bu-
reaucracy, as I have always known bureaucracy, bureaucracy as we
hope is not true but seems to be true in Washington, and that is

whoever dies with the most employees wins.
Also, secondly, it seems to me that the technology that they are

suggesting here is totally inappropriate. First of all, we started off

with Peach Tree software, which is something you or I can go out
this afternoon and buy for $99. It is a small business accounting
package. It has very limited facility here.

So now we are moving to this central processing unit which is

Solomon, which is general ledger accounting, which is probably
one-tenth of the work, if that, of what needs to be accomplished by
the Fine Center. Once again, the Fine Center appears to be driven
by financial management people who do not understand the busi-

ness of collecting money. They only understand the business of gen-
eral ledgers.

To suggest that these commercial packages can be enhanced is

unrealistic. In fact, even if you could surmount the problems of li-

censure, I can guarantee you that the producers of these commer-
cial packages would refuse to allow you—the source code that you
got, they would refuse to guarantee. It just does not make sense.

It is like looking at an automobile and saying, this could be the
space shuttle with just a few enhancements. It is not going to hap-
pen. It is unrealistic. The road is a dead end and it only leads to

failure, and I think to continue down this road, 18 months from
now we will be asking the very same questions that we are asking
today and that we asked 18 months before.

Thirdly, there is no plan. First of all, stakeholders have not been
consulted. I agree in a technical sense that the Department of Jus-
tice is a customer, but do you know who the real customer here is?
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Do you know whose money is being used? It is victims'. Have vic-

tims been consulted? No. Has anybody discussed before you any
way in which victims can be made aware of the standing of their

case, to know whether or not the restitution is coming to them? It

has not even crossed anyone's mind, and certainly there is no
methodology.
For example, Andersen Consulting has come to a methodology

like this after decades of experience. You just do not create solu-

tions by throwing people at it. It appears to me that the AOUSC
is trying to produce a system by just simply throwing money and
people at it, on the same theory that if you put enough monkeys
and you put enough typewriters in a room, you are going to come
up with Shakespeare. It does not work.

Secondly, there is no serious depositive benchstones or mile-

stones to measure incremental progress or failure. In other words,

we have an annual report where things really are not that much
further along. GAO spends all of their time trying to figure out

what is going on. You certainly have to spend your time figuring

out what is going on. We need a plan. We need a positive, com-
prehensive plan.

Finally, in answer to the question, are we any closer, I do not

believe that they can solve this problem if they do not understand
the problem. It is very clear to me, the mere fact that they have
chosen something like Solomon software tells me that they really

do not understand the complexity of the process involved.

Nothing within Solomon, for example, answers the case manage-
ment piece, which is a very important part of collection, nor does

it answer the problem of how the distribution of these processes is

going to be handled from probation, from parole, to clerks, court

clerks, to the National Fine Center, to the Assistant U.S. Attor-

neys, and certainly scalability.

That is what the Department of Justice is talking about. There
is no appreciation for the understanding that an organization, let

us say, in Vermont that may handle a case every third day, that

somehow that is different than New York City. It is suggesting

that scalability is a big problem, and it is not just quantitative.

Scalability becomes a quantitative problem.
The processes as seen by the National Fine Center seem to be

that they receive and disburse money and that they do general

ledger reporting about that money. There is much, much more in-

volved, and I would suggest that the required processes look much
more like this chart here, far more complicated. I can tell you that

this chart is very simplified, a very simplified version of the proc-

esses necessary to make a restitution system work. This is true

whether it is restitution in the Federal Government, in the State

of Missouri, or in the State of North Dakota.
To make these processes work, they have to be integrated be-

tween the case management or tracking piece, the financial piece,

and the enforcement piece. It is like layers of a puzzle and the

whole puzzle has to be there. Unless you solve all 3, you do not

have an answer to the entire question.

In terms of case management, I see nothing to indicate that

AOUSC understands the importance of managing multiple defend-

ants and multiple victims, which commonly occurs, that they un-



37

derstand that it is necessary to link and unlink defendants to their

victims based upon joint and several liability or partitioned liabil-

ity, for example.
They do not understand the business of assignees. There are

huge amounts of money that are due insurance companies here.

You need to be able to understand how to allocate to responsible
officials, and most importantly for what we have been talking
about here today, you need to track all of this information so that
you can truly come up with an answer as to how to calculate those
interests and those penalties.

If you do not have that case tracking information, you are not
going to be able to do that, which means you are not going to be
able to ever reconcile an account, and I have heard nothing here
today that says that they understand these things or the requisites

to do that.

Financially, it is the same thing. Sure, general ledger reporting
is good, but there is a lot more involved. There is security involved
around cash drawer reconciliation. You have to manage the busi-

ness of receipts. You have to manage the business of daily deposits
or bank lockboxes, and you have to manage the business when
money is paid. You have to manage the business of allocating that
money, where you have multiple priorities that are set both by law
and by the judge.

In other words, in the Federal Government, like most organiza-
tions, like most jurisdictions, there are priorities as to how that
money is to be set out. And within those priorities, you have to dis-

tribute the money on a pro rata basis. There is nothing in a Solo-

mon package, for example, that answers that, and, in fact, would
require huge manual calculations.

Of course, you need to be able, like any other human system, you
need to be able to reverse, you need to be able to do special trans-
actions so you can reverse mistakes and keep a proper record of
them. You also need to be able to provide for escheats in the Fed-
eral Government, just like there would be in any other jurisdiction.
And certainly, thirdly, an important process is the business of

enforcement. We need more than to just keep track of the money
that comes in. Somebody has to be actively working those cases,
and the business of enforcement should be a complete continuum,
all the way from a dunning letter because the payment is 10 days
late, to the use, the full use, of a U.S. Attorney's power to garnish
or cite for contempt of court. It needs to be a continuum. You need
to be able to use legal sanctions.
You need to be able, like, for example, the system that we have

does. It produces payment books, so people just send their pajonent
book in, just like they do in their mortgage payment.

Also, the system needs to address those things that are not ad-
dressed here, including the distribution of processes. You have nu-
merous organizations who are involved in the collection and ac-

counting of this money and each of those has a section of those
processes, so that, for example, the U.S. Attorney may only have
a collection responsibility. A U.S. clerk may have only the respon-
sibility for accounting. But you need to be able to address those
and distribute those on a district basis and on a national basis, and
I do not hear anything here that addresses those problems.
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Finally is the issue of scalability, which I have discussed before,

which simply is that because of the large geographic dispersion

here, because of the large number of files sand the large number
of users, it really creates a quantitative difference and that we
need to be able to create a system that is robust to be able to han-
dle something more than a jurisdiction in which there is only 1

new case every third day.

Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Insco appears on page 69.]

Senator McCain. Thank you very much, Mr. Insco. I appreciate

very much you all being here.

Mr. Beatty, I can see by the lights there that I am required to

go to the Senate floor and the hour is late. We are going to have
to have you come back another day, if you do not mind.

Mr. Beatty. That is fine, sir.

Senator McCain. Maybe we would have a better attendance here

at that time. I did read your statement and I will read it again and
I appreciate you being here.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Beatty appears on page 90.]

Senator McCain. I thank you for your testimony, Mr. Insco and
Mr. Bien.

Before Senator Dorgan left, we discussed that he and I are going

to revisit this issue soon. We are very concerned. We appreciate,

obviously, the GAO's involvement. We are very concerned, Mr.
Ames, about the progress of this project and we are not happy with
where we are. You all have helped us a lot today.

Thank you very much. This hearing is adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 4:19 p.m., the Committee was adjourned.]



APPENDIX

PREPARED STATEMENT OF LINDA D. KOONTZ

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee:
I am pleased to be here today to discuss the Administrative Office of the United

States Courts' (AOUSC) efforts to centrahze criminal debt accounting and reporting

within the National Fine Center (NFC). Under the Criminal Fine Improvements Act
of 1987, AOUSC was required to establish a criminal debt accounting and reporting

system. The system was expected to (1) automate and centralize criminal debt proc-

essing for all 94 judicial districts and (2) replace the fragmented approach for receiv-

ing criminal fine payments and alleviate long-standing weaknesses in accounting for

and reporting on criminal monetary penalties.

As discussed in our May 1995 report entitled, National Fine Center: Progress

Made but Challenges Remain for Criminal Debt System (GAO/AIMD-95-76),
AOUSC has made progress in centralizing new criminal debt information in 25 of

the smaller judicial districts. We believe, however, that there are significant chal-

lenges ahead that will require extensive planning and coordination between
AOUSC, the Department of Justice (DOJ), and other system users if AOUSC is to

successfully implement a system to centralize criminal debt processing for all 94 dis-

tricts.

First, Mr. Chairman, I would like to briefly address AOUSC's initial efforts to cen-

tralize criminal debt and implement a system, and then discuss additional actions

needed by AOUSC and DOJ to complete NFC implementation. My comments re-

garding additional actions will focus on the need to

• complete planned software enhancements to AOUSC's current NFC system,
• reconcile existing debt accounts and enter the resulting amounts into the NFC

system,
• determine the collectibility of both new and existing criminal debt accounts, and
• define specifically how and when the objectives described under phase II of the
NFC project will be accomplished.

AOUSC Has Begun Centralizing Criminal Debt

In April 1994, AOUSC began its current two-phased implementation approach
that emphasized using an off-the-shelf accounting system which could be enhanced
rather than developing a system totally in-house. Under phase I, AOUSC plans to

install an off-the-shelf accounting system to establish debtor accounts, bill debtors,
record receipts, pay victims, and report on a limited scale for criminal debts.

AOUSC plans that by the end of phase I in September 1996, the NFC system will

have complete data for all 94 judicial districts. This recognizes entering new crimi-

nal debts as they become available and existing debts as they are reconciled. Once
the selected system is fully operational under phase I, AOUSC plans to expand the
system during phase II to improve users' access to NFC information and increase
management information reporting capabilities.

Since April 1994, AOUSC officials have (1) established a process for centralizing
and maintaining federal criminal debt accounts, (2) developed a formal training pro-
gram for judicial district staff, (3) selected an off-the-shelf accounting system, and
(4) begun processing new criminal debt information for 25 of the smaller judicial dis-

tricts using the selected system, 2 more than AOUSC had initially planned in April
1994. AOUSC's implementation schedule calls for 15 additional judicial districts to

be added to NFC by the end of August 1995. According to AOUSC officials, 24 staff
are currently assigned to the NFC project and, since its inception, they will have
either expended or obligated about $10.9 million for NFC by the end of fiscal year
1995.

(39)
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There are additional actions that AOUSC and DOJ need to take to complete NFC
implementation.

AOUSC Has Not Completed Planned Phase I Software Enhancements

Currently, only a small fraction of criminal debt accounts are on the NFC system.
AOUSC officials recognize that, before the larger courts and existing criminal debts
are added, software enhancements will be needed so that NFC can effectively sup-

port certain billing, payment receipt, and disbursement functions, most of which
NFC staff now do manually. For example, one enhancement will automate the cal-

culation of interest and penalties. Automating such interest and penalty calcula-

tions, which are required by legislation, would save time and eliminate errors inher-

ent in manual calculations.

Another enhancement involves developing an automated interface to enable judi-

cial districts to provide account data to NFC in automated formats. These improve-
ments would reduce manual data entry tasks now performed by NFC staff and the

corresponding risk of errors. Other enhancements include (1) automating trans-

action data from debtor payments sent to lock boxes and payments made through
the Bureau of Prisons Inmate Financial Responsibility Program and (2) establishing

an interface between NFC and a DOJ system to allow DOJ staff increased access

to account information. Since the issuance of our report, AOUSC officials have pro-

gressed in developing the needed enhancements; however, none are operational.

Existing Criminal Debt Accounts Have Not Been Reconciled

While AOUSC has begun entering new account information, a major challenge

will be reconciling existing criminal debt accounts, which have been separately
maintained by judicial district staffs within Clerk of the Court offices, probation of-

fices, and U.S. Attorneys' Offices, and entering the resulting amounts into the NFC
system. The NFC system will not contain complete criminal debt information for its

users and the Congress until it also includes complete and reliable data on the esti-

mated $4.5 billion in existing criminal debt.

AOUSC has drafted a reconciliation strategy to guide the performance of reconcili-

ations in the judicial districts. However, the strategy has not been agreed to by DOJ
and judicial district officials. AOUSC has not established time frames for beginning
and completing reconciliations in all judicial districts or estimated the resources
needed to perform the process. In addition, the reconciliation strategy does not set

forth steps to be followed if addresses and/or social security numbers are missing
from debtor account information. This information is essential for efficient billing

and collecting of criminal debts.

Recently, AOUSC indicated that the strategy for reconciling existing accounts and
transferring them to NFC, while not yet approved, had been provided to the 25 dis-

tricts currently on the NFC system. According to AOUSC and DOJ officials, the

transfer of these accounts is to begin at the end of July 1995. At this time, we have
not reviewed the judicial districts' implementation of the reconciliation process.

Collectibility of Criminal Debt Has Not Been Determined

While not specifically required by the Criminal Fine Improvements Act of 1987,

a critical area that AOUSC and DOJ have not yet addressed is that of determining
the collectibility of criminal debt accounts. Currently, AOUSC records all new crimi-

nal debt in its NFC system as accounts receivable without a determination by
AOUSC or DOJ as to whether such debt is collectible. Also, AOUSC officials have
not established within the NFC system an allowance for doubtful or uncollectible

receivables ^ to properly account for and report on those receivables determined to

have a low probability of collection. Without such allowances, decisionmakers, in-

cluding the Congress, may be led to believe that substantially greater amounts are
collectible.

AOUSC will need to work with DOJ to ensure that realistic determinations of col-

lectibility are made on new criminal debts as the accounts are established, based
on available information, and on those that have become delinquent or are in de-

fault. ^ In addition, there is a need to review existing debt accounts that are legally

enforceable, but which may be uncollectible. Although AOUSC has no authority to

' Uncollectible accounts are those fines, restitutions, special assessments, and court costs that
should not be considered as valid accounts receivable for financial reporting purposes. The al-

lowance for doubtful or uncollectible receivables account represents those receivables that are

unlikely to be collected and results in a decrease to the accounts receivable account balance.
This allowance would not affect the enforceability of the debts.

2A fine becomes delinquent if a debtor's payment is more than 30 days late. A fine is in de-

fault if a payment is delinquent for over 90 days.



41

make adjustments to accounts or to write off debts, it could categorize certain debts
as uncollectible for accounting and reporting purposes.
Court officials told us that sufficient information is often available at the time of

sentencing to determine the offender's ability to pay and, therefore, whether or not

a monetary penalty imposed is likely to be collected. For example, in the 1993 bomb-
ing of the World Trade Center in New York City, each of the four defendants re-

ceived 240 years in prison and $250,000 in fines. Although $1 million of outstanding
fines resulted from this case, DOJ and AOUSC officials said the probability of col-

lecting these fines is low. Currently, however, DOJ reports these debts as being fully

collectible.

Without distinguishing between collectible and uncollectible criminal debt ac-

counts, NFC will be unable to accurately report on the composition of the outstand-
ing criminal debt balance. Similarly, users who are responsible for collecting debts
will not have the ability to effectively target collection resources and realistically as-

sess their performance unless information is available to distinguish debts which
are likely collectible, and thus should be rigorously pursued, from uncollectible

debts.

According to AOUSC and DOJ officials, DOJ has recently instituted a new policy

intended to improve its ability to determine collectibility of criminal debts. We have
not analyzed the policy or the extent to which it has been implemented.

AOUSC Has Not Determined How to Accomplish Phase H Objectives

AOUSC recognizes that the NFC system established during phase I will have to

evolve to a more sophisticated financial information system during phase II to im-
prove the management of criminal debt collection activities. AOUSC officials told us
that they have begun working with DOJ and other system users to define the nec-
essary information and reporting requirements. While they plan to address this

more fully, at this time, AOUSC officials have not determined what additional en-
hancements will be needed.
According to AOUSC officials, the future NFC system is to (1) provide a repository

of national statistical information on criminal debt collection, (2) produce reports to

accommodate the management information needs of the Congress, the judiciary, the
executive branch, and other entities, (3) provide the Clerk of the Court offices, pro-

bation offices, U.S. Attorneys' Offices, and the Bureau of Prisons with easy access
to account information so that the maximum level of debt collection can be achieved,
and (4) provide a means to account for the collection of bail bond and collateral for-

feiture actions, as required by the Criminal Fine Improvements Act of 1987. AOUSC
officials believe that, if they successfully implement phase II, they will have fully

met the act's requirements.

Conclusions and Recommendations

The approach AOUSC has taken has enabled it to begin centralizing new criminal
debt information in 25 of the smaller judicial districts. However, to fully centralize

criminal debt for all 94 judicial districts and provide the information needed to im-
prove the government's ability to collect what is owed, we believe that AOUSC will

need to

• complete planned NFC system enhancements, such as the one needed to per-
form interest and penalty calculations, and various interfaces to facilitate the
exchange of information between NFC and its users;

• work with DOJ to finalize a reconciliation strategy to include time frames and
resources for reconciling existing criminal debt accounts at judicial districts and
entering the reconciled information into the NFC system;

• fully define a strategy for addressing additional actions needed to enable the
NFC system to (1) provide a repository for national criminal debt statistical in-

formation, (2) produce reports to accommodate management information needs,
(3) facilitate communication between NFC and its users, and (4) account for bail

bond and collateral forfeiture actions; and
• work with DOJ to develop and implement a methodology for determining the

collectibility of all criminal debt.

AOUSC generally agreed with our findings and recommendations and has begun
to address these issues.

Mr. Chairman, that concludes my testimony. I would be happy to answer any
questions you or Members of the Committee may have at this time.
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF RICHARD A. AMES

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee:
Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you to discuss the National Fine

Center.
Before I begin, I would like to mention a little about my own background. I joined

the Administrative Office in February, 1994. Most of my prior experience was in the
private sector, where I spent 6 years as Chief Financial Officer of the Union Pacific

Railroad Company, and 22 years with Ford Motor Company in a variety of financial

management positions.

I also would like to introduce John Benoit, my colleague, who is the full-time

Project Director for the National Fine Center and is in charge of project implemen-
tation. John has 16 years of federal government experience, primarily at the Treas-
ury Department and HUD, where he successfully implemented several national fi-

nancial systems and projects.

I would like to begin by saying that John and I and our entire National Fine Cen-
ter Project team share your sense of urgency regarding this project. The swift and
successful implementation of this project continues to be one of the Administrative
Office's highest priorities. The development of processes to establish accounts for

criminal debtors, issue monthly bills, receive payments, assess penalties and inter-

est, disburse receipts, monitor payments, and provide accurate and timely manage-
ment information on criminal fines and penalties owed to this government and to

victims of crime is important to the fair and efficient administration of justice. We
are working very hard to make this a reality.

As you know, our role as the recipient of the funds paid to the National Fine Cen-
ter is significantly different from that of the Department of Justice which enforces

the collection of the funds. Our intent is to provide the Department of Justice with
accurate data which will enhance their collection effort.

We are pleased to be here today to report on the current status of the National
Fine Center. As background, I first appeared before this Committee on June 28 last

year to discuss the National Fine Center. At that time, I had been with the Admin-
istrative Office for about 5 months and had been involved with the Fine Center for

about 3 months. The Administrative Office had completed the planning and develop-

ment phase of the Fine Center project, and my office assumed responsibility for the
project on April 26, 1994 when we began the project implementation stage.

At the June, 1994 hearing, the Committee expressed concern that the project was
moving too slowly. In response, I reported on the two-phase implementation plan
we had developed. The focus of Phase I was "just do it!". Building on lessons learned
from the planning and development phase, the concept of Phase I of the implemen-
tation effort was to start simple, start small, modify as we go, and "full speed
ahead".

Accordingly, we began with the smallest courts; developed simple business proc-

esses; utilized an initial off-the-shelf accounting software package with which we
were familiar (while we evaluated, selected, modified, and tested the software pack-
age that would have capacity and capability to meet requirements for all 94 courts);

entered data manually, and exchanged information by mail, phone and fax.

In summary, the focus was on action i.e., to get started and keep moving for-

ward—rather than to wait (or stop) until ultimate solutions were developed for the
overall two-phase plan (or for issues encountered along the way). In line with this

philosophy, we described an implementation plan and timetable that would bring
23 courts onto a central National Fine Center processing unit in the first year (i.e.

by April 26, 1995) and all 94 courts by August 26, 1996—2 years after the first

court.

The implementation plan we presented last summer included a Phase II effort

which is an enhanced system that will include more comprehensive management in-

formation capabilities, along with wide-scale, on-line access. While Phase I imple-
mentation clearly was our first priority, we said last summer that as we proceeded
during the next 2 years with Phase I, we also would begin work to develop plans
for the Phase II enhanced processes and systems and also provide some of the Phase
II requirements. During the first year, we have made more progress on Phase II

than we originally expected—although the Department of Justice would have pre-

ferred even more progress. Last summer, we said we would complete Phase II im-
plementation within 42-60 months. We intend to meet this commitment.
As we reflect on our project experience over the past year, we are even more con-

vinced that the two-phase approach we are taking is the best way to proceed. Our
experiences have reinforced repeatedly the wisdom of three valuable lessons learned
in the prototype testing operations conducted during the original planning and de-
velopment effort:
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1. Fully accommodating the myriad desires originally identified by the future

users resulted in a "grand design" that would cost too much and take too long

to implement—if it could be implemented at all;

2. Even if we spent the time and money on the "grand design", it might not work;
3. A valuable, efficient system could be developed within a relatively shorter time

period by concentrating on primary user needs—with a much higher likelihood

of success and lower cost than attempting the "grand design".

At the time of the hearing a year ago, there was no central fine processing center.

Against this background, let me report on what has been achieved during the past
year since that hearing. In summary, we have met our commitments—in full and
on time; here are some of the highlights:

• Court Implementation Plan: We said we would develop business processes, es-

tablish a central processing unit, train courts, and bring 23 courts onto the new
processing center by April 26, 1995. Along the way, we met each of our 120-

day milestones and had 25 courts on the new center by April 1, 1995. Actually,

this is slightly better than we promised a year ago; details are shown in Attach-
ment 1.

• Financial Status: Since the year-ago hearing, we have spent an additional $2.5
million. Over half of this was spent on project personnel and contractor support;

most of the rest was spent on travel for court orientation and training, and for

project equipment. Since project inception, spending now totals $8.2 of the $19
million authorized by Congress. Further, our fiscal year 1995 spending is within
budget.

• Fine Collection: Today, the National Fine Center is tracking a total of $46 mil-

lion in new criminal debt for 25 courts. Accounts have been established for over
two thousand criminal debtors. When preexisting cases for these 25 courts are
added over the next few months, we estimate that the Fine Center will be
tracking about $400 million in criminal debt and about 18,000 criminal debtors
for these 25 courts. We are relying on the Department of Justice to bring these
preexisting cases onto the system. These results are consistent with the strat-

egy we set in April, 1994: "Get all 94 courts up ASAP", which required starting

right away with small courts and simple processes—as described earlier.

Meanwhile, while the National Fine Center project is being implemented, the
Judiciary received a total of $60 million for deposit in the Crime Victims Fund
during fiscal year 1994. This was up $36 million, or 133 percent- from fiscal

year 1993. During the first 6 months of fiscal year 1995, the Judiciary has re-

ceived $110 million. This is up $49 million, or 80 percent from the same period
a year ago. Thus, criminal debt collection efforts continue while the National
Fine Center project is being implemented.

Major Accomplishments: Many actions were required to bring 25 courts onto the
central processing unit and to provide the capability to bring additional larger

courts into the National Fine Center. Highlights during the past year include:

• Business Processes: We established and implemented accounting and business
processes and procedures for use in both the courts and center.

• Central Processing Unit: We designed the unit, hired and trained staff, installed

equipment and began administrative operations in D.C. to support court crimi-

nal debt collection activities.

• Court Training: We hired and trained a team to develop and deliver training

programs to courts.
• Systems Development and Support: We hired and trained a team to develop and
implement hardware and software applications and telecommunication inter-

faces for court units, the central processing unit, and customers.
• Disaster Plan: We developed and installed back-up capability and duplicate files

to protect against a disaster in the D.C. system.
• Central Processing Unit Software: We selected, modified and installed a new

software package with full capability to process all existing criminal debt cases
nationwide, while providing greatly enhanced analytic and reporting flexibility

and capability. In April, this new system replaced the original software which
did not have adequate capacity to meet full requirements but was adequate to

permit us to begin fine center operations a year ago.
• Pre-existing Cases: With April installation of the new processing software, we
now have full capability to bring on reconciled, preexisting cases from the 25
courts now on the Fine Center.

• Court Software: We have developed, and we are introducing, new software to

assist courts in processing criminal debt information. Examples include Informs
which facilitates transmission of required information to the center, and a pack-
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age to automate the new judgment and commitment procedure being imple-
mented July 31 which will provide one-time data entry and facilitate court oper-
ations.

• Data Interchange: We developed a plan, which will be tested during the next
few months, to manage system-wide data interchange through individual, court-

based, network application servers. This will provide data capacity, improved
access to all users, and enhanced analytical support.

• System Equipment Requirements: We are completing a court-by-court evaluation
of all hardware requirements to identity and procure all necessary incremental
equipment to ensure systems capability.

• External Affairs: We have invested substantial resources in answering questions
and communicating the importance of the National Fine Center Project, our
plan, progress, and next steps to the Judiciary, customers, media (only upon in-

quiry), Congress, and GAO.

Phase II: Several of the above accomplishments represent an acceleration of work
required to provide the Phase II management information enhancements discussed
earlier. Examples include the new central processing unit software and network ap-

plication servers. Of course, the entire Phase I effort provides the foundation for

Phase II.

Court Implementation Outlook: For Phase I, our next objective is to have 38 courts
on the central processing unit by August 26; we are "on target" to achieve that ob-

jective. Subsequently, our objectives include 58 courts by December 26, 1995 and all

94 courts by August 26, 1996 (Attachment 2). We expect to meet these objectives.

For Phase II, as discussed earlier, we are farther along than we expected to be, and
we are committed to achieve complete implementation of Phase II within the 42-
60 month objective (from April 26, 1994) that we stated at the prior hearing.

Challenges Ahead:

Although much has been accomplished and we are slightly ahead of our imple-
mentation schedule, there is much more to be done, and we face many challenges
ahead. For Phase I, meeting the court implementation milestones will be increas-
ingly difficult because central processing unit volume and complexity are increasing
and the largest courts, which are still ahead, will be more difficult to bring into the
center. Reconciling pre-existing cases and incorporating them into the system will

increase both volume and complexity, both locally and centrally, until the transition
is completed. Further, developing, testing, and installing network application serv-

ers; new improved software; and telecommunication interfaces are each major tasks.

For Phase II, our challenge is to work with the Department of Justice and others
to determine how new and better information and new analytic capability can best
be utilized to improve criminal debt collection. Opportunities include evaluation of

debt collectibility, improved prioritization of debt collection efforts, and re-examina-
tion and refinement of the entire broad, cross-branch, multi-activity. Federal Gov-
ernment criminal debt/law enforcement effort.

Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today, and for the support
and interest you have shown in this very important project. With your continuing
support, we intend to meet our project implementation objectives. I am happy to an-
swer any questions you may have.
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF GERALD STERN

Mr. Chairman, Senator McCain, members of the Committee, I am Gerald M.
Stern, Special Counsel for Financial Institution Fraud for the Department of Jus-

tice. The Attorney General has designated me to oversee the Department's efforts

in debt collection. I appreciate this opportunity to update the Committee on the De-
partment's perspective on the National Fine Center.

The Department of Justice has long been responsible for the enforcement of crimi-

nal judgments. When a debtor is in default and has not satisfied a criminal fine,

assessment or restitution, the Department finds and seizes the defaulted debtor's

property. To enforce this collection, a U.S. Attorney's Office must have quick access

to accurate information on the amount of the debt, evidence the debtor is in default,

and the debtor's location. Only with this information, can the U.S. Attorney request

the Court to issue a garnishment order or some other post judgment remedy. Tradi-

tionally, the Department of Justice obtained such debtor information from the

Clerks of the Court who were responsible for receipt of criminal fines, assessment
and restitution payments, as well as processing and tracking those payments. How-
ever, between 1984 and 1987, some payments also were received by the Department
of Justice. In some large offices processing and tracking became a full time task

leaving little time for the Department of Justice to locate and seize assets.

With the enactment of the Criminal Fines Improvement Act of 1987, Congress
clarified the traditional roles by delegating the responsibility for receipt of all crimi-

nal fines, assessment and restitution payments to the Judicial branch and man-
dated that the Administrative Office of the Courts establish a National Fine Center
to provide automated and centralized debt and payment tracking system. This Cen-
ter was to provide accurate and current information to all those charged with en-

forcement of collection: the Office of U.S. Probation, the Department of Justice, its

Bureau of Prisons and the U.S. Attorneys Offices.

The establishment of the National Fine Center will allow the Department of Jus-

tice to be concerned only with a distinct group of debtors, namely those who have
failed to pay or who have defaulted on their payment plans. These debtors will be

turned over to the Department for its enforcement efforts. Effective enforcement ac-

tion will depend on the Department's easy access to accurate debtor information

maintained by the National Fine Center.
To ensure that the National Fine Center, once established, meets the needs of the

Department of Justice, we have attempted to work closely with the Administrative

Office of the U.S. Courts (AOUSC). For the past year, I have met at least monthly
with both Dick Ames, the AOUSC's Assistant Director and Chief Financial Officer,

and John Benoit, the NFC Project Director. The Department has detailed Assistant

U.S. Attorneys and a paralegal specialist to work with the AOUSC team and to

train the district based personnel on the operations of the Fine Center. Recently the

Department provided a DOJ computer specialist to further assist the Fine Center.

In February of 1994, AOUSC and the Department jointly agreed to a detailed

Phase 2 Functional Requirements Document to set forth the Department's require-

ments for the National Fine Center. To ensure that the system meets the statutory

requirements and "can be designed, tested and implemented in courts nationwide,"
the Requirements Document provided, among other things, that the Department of

Justice will have on-line-interactive access to the National Fine Center.

At some point, the AOUSC apparently abandoned the development of the on-line

interactive access system set forth in the Requirements Document. As an alter-

native, in February 1995, AOUSC proposed to fulfill the need for an on-line system
with a LAN (local area network). The Fine Center project director has advised the
Department that this LAN system will be more efficient and less costly than the

type of on-line interactive system envisioned by the Requirements Document and
that it will provide the Department with the on-line access required to perform its

enforcement function. We certainly hope it will work. However, we have informed
AOUSC that until the LAN System has been tested and is operational, the Depart-
ment cannot agree to the implementation of the larger districts on the National Fine
Center, currently scheduled for the period December 1995 through August 1996.

AOUSC believes it will have the pilot LAN system operational in September and
it will be able to bring new districts directly on to the LAN system as of December
1, 1995.
There are two other issues raised by the GAO audit I wish to address. The first

is the collectibility of the criminal penalties imposed by the courts. The Department
of Justice determines the collectibility of criminal debts in a continuous process.

This spring, the Department issued new guidelines on the suspension of

uncollectible debts to the United States Attorney's Offices. We review suspended
cases periodically to determine whether the debtor's circumstances have changed.
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We obtain up-to-date financial statements from debtors and establish new payment
plans when appropriate. By the end of fiscal year 1995, we anticipate that the U.S.
Attorney's Offices will have completed a review of their entire criminal debt inven-

tory. Before the end of the calendar year, we should know the percentage of the debt
balance currently deemed collectible.

The GAO report has emphasized that the various components now tracking crimi-

nal fine payments should reconcile their records prior to establishing the debt at the
Fine Center. While progress in transferring existing debt to the National Fine Cen-
ter is essential to permitting the Fine Center to fulfill its duty to account for and
report the amount of outstanding debt, it is also true that the sooner the Depart-
ment's debt collection agents stop processing and tracking payments, the sooner
they can focus on the task of enforcing payment and seizing property from defaulted
debtors. Therefore, the Department has developed a program to permit electronic

transfer of existing cases to the National Fine Center. While in some districts, the
Clerk of the Court, the Office of U.S. Probation and the U.S. Attorney's Office each
keeps payment records and these records may be inconsistent, in the many districts

in which the U.S. Attorney's Office tracks payments and balances for the entire dis-

trict, we have determined that the U.S. Attorney's Office has the correct debt bal-

ance on every case. The districts being implemented on the Fine Center are using
the newly developed Department of Justice program to transfer electronically the
cases to the Fine Center, and we anticipate that certain of their data such as court
numbers will be converted to the Fine Center format by September.

Conclusion

As this Committee has recognized, the Department needs a fullj' operational on-
line computerized National Fine Center so our attorneys and paralegals can enforce
criminal fine judgments rather than track and process payments. The Department
will continue to work with AOUSC to achieve this result. We welcome the Commit-
tee's interest and assistance in ensuring that the National Fine Center meets its

mandated goals.
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Introduction

Senator McCain and members of the Committee, thank you for the opportunity to testify

on how the private sector would implement a solution to support the Administrative

Office of the U.S. Courts in collecting criminal debts and fines.

For over two decades ~ working with national, state, provincial and local govemments ~

Andersen Consulting has designed and implemented criminal justice solutions through

technology and change management We are a global management and technology

consulting organization whose mission is to help our clients in many fields change in order

to be more successful. We work with clients from all levels of government to help

integrate people, processes, strategies and technologies in order to improve efficiency and

achieve their organizational mission. Andersen Consulting employs more than 32,000

professionals in 152 offices and 47 countries. In 1994, our worldwide revenues exceeded

$3.2 billion.

As director of Andersen's Justice and Public Safety Practice, I have managed the

development of numerous national and statewide solutions to the many problems facing

criminal and civil justice agencies — solutions that include case management, law
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enforcement and court support systems as well as family violence tracking and response

systems. Andersen is also pioneering an integrated justice approach that would Hnk

various criminal justice entities through technology into one cohesive, unified system.

Executive Summary

Let me summarize my main points. The Criminal Fines Improvement Act, passed eight

years ago, offered urgently-needed new help to crime victims, by using a portion of federal

criminal fines to assist victim services and compensation. Two years ago, victims' rights

organizations maintained that an effective system for fine collection that could realize the

promised benefits of the Act was still not in place -- some six years after passage of the

new law.

The Administrative Office of the U.S. Courts estimates that by 1995 it will spend $25.2

million to complete an interim system. Eighteen months ago, Andersen Consulting

contacted the project team from the National Fine Center, which led to our proposing a

practical solution to the problems of implementing within eighteen months an effective fine

collection system for $15 million. Most of what I have to say will describe that system,

for purposes of suggesting that an economical solution is possible.

My main point is simple: regardless of whether the government, or the private sector, or

some combination thereof, actually performs the work necessary, it is possible to put in

place an effective collection system within eighteen months for $15 million — more than

$10 million less than current estimates for an incomplete system.

Problems and Current Status of Implementation

In passing the 1987 law, the intentions of Congress were noble and sensible ~ to provide

greatly-needed additional funding to support victim services and compensation, not at



52

taxpayers' expense, but through fines assessed against federal offenders. But turning good

intentions into action also requires good planning, detailed implementation and training.

Eight years after the Criminal Fines Improvement Act, the public still awaits

implementation of a system to fulfill Congressional intent. 1 am here today to give you a

private-sector perspective on what is possible.

In 1993, crime victims' rights organizations expressed their concerns to Andersen

Consulting about the National Fine Center's perceived lack of progress, not only in

collecting more than $4 billion in outstanding criminal debts, but also in estabUshing an

effective system to collect millions of dollars in future fines that could support efforts to

help victims -- among them, rape crisis centers, MADD chapters, battered women's

shelters, and prosecutor-based victim/witness programs. Later in 1993, 1 contacted the

Project Team from the National Fine Center to try and better understand their challenges

in implementing the Act. After these meetings, we developed a January 1994 proposal to

the NFC that outlined a public-private sector solution to the immense problems associated

with integrating a collections system for 94 Federal districts; reconciling $4.5 billion in

existing debts; automating interest and penalty calculations on these outstanding debts;

and developing a long-range plan to ensure successful implementation of the 1987 Act

What is "successful implementation"? We proposed three factors to define success:

First, a cost-ejfective, proven and available solution that would meet the business

requirements of the Criminal Fines Improvement Act, not only in the short term,

but over years to come.

Second, rapid implementation of collecting past due debts and estabhshing a

system to collect these debts most expeditiously in order to benefit victims today,

plus establishing a process to keep current the government's collections for victim

assistance and compensation.



53

Third, a system that is easily expandable to meet growing demands for offender

and systems financial accountability.

Here is a brief overview of the processing solution proposed by Andersen Consulting

eighteen months ago (see Appendix A):

• After a fine has been assessed against a convicted offender, the Clerk of the

Federal District Court will enter that information into the NFC Processing

Center.

• This information will be processed overnight, immediately sending a payment

book -- much like a car or house payment coupon book -- to the convicted

offender through certified mail with receipt acknowledged.

• Each month, the offender will send his or her payment and monthly coupon to

a centralized bank lockbox that the Central Processing Center will process

against that person's existing debt balance.

• The Processing Center will prepare and disseminate payments either to the

Victims of Crime Act (VOCA) fund for state victim compensation and

assistance, or directly to victims of crime to fulfill restitution requirements.

The Center would handle all accounting, payment receipt and application,

interest and penalty computation, victim and convicted offender reporting,

national central data repository, and technical network and application

maintenance.

Unquestionably, collection enforcement is a large challenge. Fortunately, Senator

McCain's recent bills address the significance of accountability in collections. Our

proposed solution can meet these new requirements, which include:

S. 397, which authorizes the AOUSC to contract with private entities, on a

contingent fee basis, to collect assessments that are more than 120 days in

default
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Privatizing debt collection, as Senator McCain noted in his floor statement of

February 13, 1995, has proven to be effective. In a pilot program to collect civil

debts in seven jurisdictions by 18 private lawfirms, $9.2 million in defaulted civil

debts was collected at a cost of only $2.4 million.

• The Crime Victims Assistance Improvement Act, which doubles the mandatory

assessment fine on convicted federal felons; imposes an enforceable payment

schedule for crime fines and restitution orders; increases the statute of

Umitations for fine collection from five to 20 years; and prohibits dehnquent

federal debtors from collecting federal benefits.

Clearly, the Crime Victims Assistance Improvement Act would not only

substantially increase potential collections -- an increase easily accommodated

by our proposed system - but the Act would also haltfederalfinancial assistance

to those who shirk theirfinancial obligations to crime victims. Andersen

Consulting has gained extensive experience in debt set-ofi"processing from work

with state lotteries, such as the Virginia Lottery. Quite afewjackpot winners

have been dismayed to receive checksfor much less than they expected, because

the set-off balance has been withheldfor child support, delinquentfines, and

outstanding taxes.

The project approach we proposed (see Appendix B) had four phases:

• A one-month needs assessment to define overall system requirements based on

knowledge transfer from proven solutions that are already in operation.

• Development of a prototype, to include a long-term plan and business approach,

appropriate hardware and software, and definition of effective collection

processes.

• A pilot program phase in which a Central Processing Site would be opened to

implement the pilot program in five districts: one small, two medium and two

large districts. The pUot would help define procedures to reconcile existing debts

and "fine tune" the pilot for nationwide application.
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• Finally, we would roll out the solution nationwide in the remaining districts.

Eighteen months ago, our proposed cost was $15 milUon for a system that could have

placed all 94 federal districts on-Une in a national integrated collections system. Compare

this figure to AOUSC's estimated $25.2 million completion cost through Fiscal Year 1995

for an interim system.

Today, aU 94 federal districts could be on-line in a national system. Yet the General

Accounting Office's May 1995 report on the National Fine Center states that, since 1990,

the Center has expended $6.7 million to collect less than that - $6.4 million ~ in criminal

fines and debts.

Mr. Chairman, I have described a practical approach to implementation that relies on

proven, existing technology. Whether we or some other entity perform the work, my

point is that it can be done, and done economically. This program has a great opportunity

to do the right thing, and to do it soon -- to make criminals fully accountable for their

actions, and to ease the physical, financial and emotional burdens that crime victims

endure.

I would be pleased to answer any questions that you or other members of the Committee

may have.

O O
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF DAVID BEATTY

I would like to thank Chairman McCain and the other members of the Committee
for inviting me here to address the issue of the National Fine Center's role in fed-

eral criminal debt collection.

My name is David Beatty. I am the Director of Public Policy for the National Vic-

tim Center.
By way of background, the National Victim Center is a non-profit organization

which works directly with more than 8,000 victim organizations and agencies which
provide assistance and services to hundreds of thousands of violent crime victims
each year.

Many of these victims and victim organizations benefit directly or indirectly from
the federal debt collection efforts through the Victims of Crime Act (VOCA) Fund.

Since the creation of the VOCA Fund in 1984 by the Victims of Crime Act, victims
and service organizations and agencies have come to rely on contributions from the
VOCA Fund as an indispensable part of their funding base.
The Fund has literally become the keystone of the over-arching victim services

network in the U.S. and a primary source for direct financial assistance for incal-

culable numbers of crime victims. As such, no other federal legislation has had a
greater impact on the lives of our nations' crime victims than the Victims of Crime
Act, through the VOCA Fund.

Objective and Operation of the VOCA Fund
The original objective and operation of the VOCA Fund was fairly simple and

straight forward from its inception.

The authorizing Act provided that federal fines and appearance bond forfeitures
owed by offenders be allocated to the Victims of Crime Fund. In addition, the Act
established a special penalty assessment for individuals and corporations convicted
of federal offenses which were also to be paid into the Fund.

Federal courts, prison system officials, and U.S. Attorneys were given the primary
responsibility for enforcement of orders to collect not only fines, fees and assess-
ments, but also for collecting court-ordered restitution.

Once deposited into the Fund, the Office for Victim Assistance was empowered to

distribute these monies to the States in the form of formula/block grants. These
block grants were primarily designated for two specific purposes;

1. To provide financial support to individual crime victims through state victim
compensation programs; and

2. To provide financial assistance to direct victim service providers (or sub-grant-
ees) through state distribution programs.

Impact of the Federal Victim Compensation Program
In many ways, the state crime victim compensation programs supported by the

Fund arguably have a greater measurable impact on individual victims than any
other government-sponsored program.

Violent crime leaves most victims not only psychologically traumatized and phys-
ically devastated, but also financially destitute. Medical and counseling bills, often
amounting to tens of thousands of dollars, are incurred by victims often at the same
time they are suffering a loss of income due to their absence from work or due to

an incapacitation which resulted directly from their victimization.
In 1989, the estimated cost of violent crime to victims was $1.5 billion. For the

majority of victims who do not have private insurance or financial assets to fall back
on, compensation may be the only hope they and their families have of avoiding fi-

nancial ruin.

Apart from their implications for victims' financial conditions, such resources are
often critical to victims' physical and psychological recovery. Compensation can have
a dramatic impact on the quahty of life for victims struggling to recover from their
victimization.

Compensation can provide victims with the medical procedures necessary to allow
them to escape lives of constant physical pain they suffer as a result of injuries in-

flicted upon them by their perpetrators.
Compensation allows child victims to seek the counseling they need to prevent

their mental and emotional retreat into a silent world of fear, mistrust, trauma and
self-blame.

Compensation also affords victims the physical therapy they require to enable
them to return to work so they can continue to support themselves and their fami-
lies.

Indeed, these funds can mean the difference between financial ruin and economic
survival for many of the victims fortunate enough to receive this assistance.
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While compensation is of critical importance to the physical, emotional and finan-

cial well-being of crime victims, the collection and distribution of court-ordered res-

titution can play an equally valuable role in the recovery of many crime victims.

Impact of Restitution

In some respects, restitution offers more restorative value to federal crime victims

than does government sponsored compensation programs.
By requiring offenders to pay their victims for the harm resulting from their

criminal acts, restitution provides a measure of direct accountability that helps sat-

isfy crime victims' desire for justice while engendering a greater sense of personal

responsibility among perpetrators.

Studies have indicated that in many cases there is a positive correlation between
restitution and recidivism rates. Offenders who are held financially responsible to

their victims seem to develop a greater appreciation for the human consequences of

their acts in a way that deters further criminal behavior—particularly among young
and first time offenders who commit lesser crimes.

But apart from serving the greater interests of justice, restitution serves a more
practical purpose in the lives of Federal crime victims—they help provide the critical

resources that are essential to their recovery. As stated by the President's Task
Force on Victims of Crime:

... No amount of money can erase the tragedy and trauma imposed on [vic-

tims]; however, some financial redress can be an important first step in helping
people begin the often lengthy process of recovery. For some, this modest finan-

cial assistance can be the lifeline that preserves not only some modicum of sta-

bility and dignity but also life itself. . . .

Currently restitution is a vastly under-utilized approach to restorative justice.

Restitution in criminal cases is rarely ordered, rarely collected and rarely distrib-

uted. This is due in part to judicial reluctance to order it and in part to the inad-

equacy of administrative resources and systems.
However, several proposals currently pending in Congress, which would make full

restitution mandatory in every criminal case, may dramatically reverse the current
policies regarding the frequency with which federal restitution is ordered, placing
unprecedented demands on current administrative structures.

These federal proposals, including the growing number of similar measure being
introduced at the state level, are evidence of the growing public sentiment in favor

of holding offenders responsible for the harm they inflict on their fellow members
of society.

Impact of the Federal Victim Assistance Program

Yet crime victims need more than to recoup their financial losses—they also need
the assistance of victim service providers and advocates. Since the 1970s, victim as-

sistance organizations and entities throughout the nation have provided support and
assistance to crime victims, including crisis intervention, counseling, emergency fi-

nancial assistance, personal advocacy, emergency shelter, transportation, child care,

employer intervention, and information about the criminal justice process.

These support services are critical to a victim's psychological and emotional well-

being. Information and counseling offered by experienced service providers help vic-

tims cope with the stress and trauma associated with the crime and their participa-

tion in the criminal justice process. In fact, their intervention is often critical to

gaining the victim's cooperation and effective participation in the prosecution of vio-

lent offenders.

More than 8,000 victim service organizations and agencies constitute the back-
bone of the victims' movement. Yet the vast majority of organizations and agencies
are forced to operate on extremely limited budgets. For many, VOCA money has be-

come an indispensable portion of their funding base.
Indeed, VOCA funding is the life-line that keeps many victim organizations afloat.

Though the average grant to such organizations is relatively small (averaging less

than $20,000), for agencies operating on a shoestring, VOCA contributions often rep-

resent a considerable portion of their annual operating budgets. State funding and
private donations comprise the remaining portion of their funding base.

Together, these organizations and agencies serve millions of crime victims each
year, representing every category of victimization from child abuse and domestic vio-

lence to sexual assaults and drunk-driving to simple assaults and homicides.
In many cases, victim advocates operating out of prosecutors' offices are the only

officials in the criminal justice system specifically assigned to protect the rights and
interests of crime victims. Many of these system based advocacy programs are direct
beneficiaries of VOCA Funds.
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Growth of VOCA Funding and the Demand for Assistance

Funding for victim compensation and victim assistance programs has increased
dramatically during the last 10 years.

VOCA Fund collections alone have grown from $68 million in 1985 to a high of
$221 million in 1992.
This year VOCA will distribute almost $64 million to state victim compensation

programs and $79 million to states for victim assistance programs.
As funding has grown, so have the number of victim compensation and victim as-

sistance programs.
In 1986, approximately 2,000 service organizations existed to provide victims with

assistance and advocacy. We have witnessed a 400 percent increase in that number
over the last 9 years.

Yet despite the growing number of victim service organizations, the demand for

such services continue to outstrip the supply by a considerable margin.
In other words, there simply are not enough resources to meet the basic needs

of our nation's crime victims.

Let me mention a few examples to illustrate the critical shortage of victim serv-

ices across the country.
Typical is the case of the Jefferson County Domestic Violence Shelter in Arvada,

Colorado. In 1993 alone, 524 domestic violence victims were turned away for lack
of space, including 222 children.

Washington State recently funded a program to provide assistance to male victims
of sexual assault (young males being the most common target of pedophiles). The
program had resources to serve about 50 clients. Within 3 months, it had received
applications from more than 500 victims.

Even in the city that has been witnessing the most highly publicized domestic vio-

lence trial in this nation's history, domestic violence victims are still grossly
undeserved. The Los Angles District Attorney's office files over 6,000 domestic vio-

lence cases each year. Since this represents only those cases that are reported, the
actual number of domestic violence cases in Los Angeles is much higher. Yet, the
combined number of beds available in all the domestic violence shelters throughout
Los Angeles County total fewer than 420, which means more than 5,500 women are
left to fend for themselves. Some end up living in their cars—some end up living

on the streets. It's tragic and ironic that these women feel safer on the streets of
Los Angeles than they do in their own homes.

Despite the nation's growing awareness and concern over the issue of domestic vi-

olence, resources allocated to address the problem are woefully inadequate. Domes-
tic violence continues to take a back seat to other concerns as is evidenced by the
fact that there are more animal shelters in the United States than there are domes-
tic violence shelters.

Perhaps the greatest tragedy of this famine of funding is that there are thousands
of individuals willing to work at subsistence salaries or to volunteer full-time in

order to provide the services and assistance crime victims are literally dying for.

For example, Tennessee only has enough money to support a modest salary for

one full time victim advocate for drunk driving victims—this in a state that saw 480
deaths and several thousand injuries due to drunk driving last year alone. Despite
the overwhelming case load, Karen Lynch is making a difference in the lives of vic-

tims. Just ask the women who became suicidal after her sister was killed by a
drunk driver who ran a red light. Ms. Lynch was able to provide the crisis interven-
tion that likely saved that young women's life.

Sexual assault victims in Tennessee fare no better. The State's six rape crisis cen-
ters serve an estimated 3,000 sexual assault victims spread over 94 counties. Faced
with such overwhelming numbers, centers are left with no alternative than to turn
victims away.

Despite the request of service providers seeking funds to develop programs to pro-

vide assistance to under-served or unserved victim populations, most states simply
lack sufficient resource to support such noble undertakings.

In fact, virtually every state is forced to reject applications from prospective serv-

ice providers seeking VOCA assistance. Rejections run as high as 40 percent in

some states, leaving entire populations and geographic regions with virtually no vic-

tim services.

Growing Need During the Economic Squeeze

The demand for victim assistance and services has grown dramatically in recent
years. This is due in part to a greater awareness among victims of the availability

services and in part to the greater willingness of victims to report crimes to authori-
ties. The growing pressure placed on existing services by this increased demand is

occurring just as available resources for such services are declining.
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Virtually every program administrator and service provider to whom I have spo-

ken in the last year indicated that financial support from every source has dimin-
ished considerably.
Many private contributors and charitable foundations are being forced by their

own dwindling funds to either curtail their contribution to victim organizations or

withdraw their support altogether.

State funding for both victim assistance and victim compensation are being scaled

down as a direct result of budget cuts or reductions in the collection of fines and
fees earmarked for victim services.

Bearing in mind the fact that many organizations are forced to operate on mar-
ginal budgets, the reduction in funding could harbor disastrous repercussions for

their operations and survival. Many are already being forced to curtail services,

while others are forced to divert scarce resources away from victim services toward
fundraising. Sadly, some are simply being forced to close their doors.

Compensation programs too suffer from a chronic lack of funding. Numerous
states, where the victim compensation fund is insufficient to cover compensation
claims, have been forced to create waiting lists. Some victims have to wait up to

a year or more before they receive their first check—this despite the fact that the
need for financial assistance is most acute in the first few weeks following victimiza-

tion. When compensation for medical assistance and counseling do finally arrive,

years after the fact, it is often too late to have any real impact. As one advocate
put it, "Compensation delayed is compensation denied."
Due to the severe economic downsizing in both their public and private funding

bases, victim service agencies find themselves in the position of ever-increasing reli-

ance on VOCA Funds.
The financial crunch is quickly becoming a financial crisis for almost all victim

service organizations. Organizations are not only losing ground due to the crisis, but
many are threatened with extinction.

The need for additional Federal assistance is becoming absolutely imperative if

victim services are to survive. Every possible source of additional revenues should
be fully explored. Ways to enhance fines, fees and forfeitures as a funding source
should be carefully examined. However, increasing the amount owed by offending
individuals and entities will have no effect unless these debts are actually collected.

By conservative estimates, there are more than $4.5 billion in outstanding crimi-

nal debt currently in the United States. If even 3 percent of that amount could be
secured by additional collection efforts, the resulting $135 million would go far to

ease the current financial crisis.

Role of the Fine Center

The extent to which VOCA funding can assist crime victims is directly propor-
tional to the amount of federal fines ordered and collected. The fine collection proc-

ess involves a series of successive steps carried out by various criminal justice offi-

cials. From the moment a fine is ordered, the debt must be recorded, fines must be
collected either with the cooperation of the offender or through execution and en-
forcement; the collected proceeds must be processed and disbursements must be
made to the VOCA fund or to crime victims directly.

As with all with all linear processes, the chain is only as strong as its weakest
link. Historically, there has been a consensus that administration has been the
weak link in the Federal criminal debt collection process. It was for this reason that
the Federal Fine Collection Center was created. As described in its own educational
booklet the Fine Center was intended to be;

... a centralized, automated data base of current information on the payments
of fines, restitution, forfeitures of bail bonds or collateral, and assessments im-
posed by the courts in all felony and some misdemeanor cases.

Its stated purpose was to:

. . . perform the accounting and administrative support for fine and restitution
collection, including the acceptance of payments, the furnishing of current bal-
ances, the computation of interest and penalties, the dispatch of monthly state-
ments and notices to debtors, the tracking of delinquencies and defaults, and
the generation of national statistics on fines.

and, through the use of modern technology to;

provide for the faster, more efficient collection of money and the elimination of
duplicate records and efforts.

To date, AOUSC has spent 6 years and at least $6.7 million to develop and imple-
ment the Federal Fine Collection Center. By the end of fiscal year 1995, they will
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have spent or obligated $10.9 million—all of which was allocated directly from the

VOCA fund.

Fine Center's Progress

When the Victims of Crime Act originally designated a portion of the criminal

debt proceeds to the AOUSC to assist with further collection efforts, it did so with
the support of crime victims. Even though these substantial sums could have other-

wise been used to assist crime victims and victim service programs in the short

term, victim advocates understood that before the money could be spent it must first

be collected. They assumed that by spending a little now to establish an efficient

and effective collection system, it would return greater sums to the fund by way of

increased collections in the long run.

Members of the victims movement believed that the millions spent to improve the

collection process was a good investment that would not only pay for itself, but

which would yield far greater dividends over time.

When I testified before this committee last year, I suggested the analogy between
investment in the Fine Center and investment in a business venture. I've heard

AOUSC staff use similar phraseology.
Given the many parallels between the two, I feel the analogy is not only useful

in understanding the purpose underlying the project, but a very appropriate means
by which to evaluate it.

As we've heard from the testimony given today, the answer to the question of

whether the Fine Center is succeeding as an enterprise depends on who you ask

and by what standard success is measured.
It is my opinion that the progress and success of the Fine Center's centralization

and automation program as such be measured by the same standards as those used

to evaluate similar projects in the real world.

I believe that the members of this committee, acting as the de facto board of direc-

tors of this enterprise, have the right to hold those in charge of managing it to the

same performance standards as would their counterparts in the private sector.

I can think of no reason why the members of this committee should expect any-

thing less of its managers simply because they are part of the public sector.

Crime victims, as the primary beneficiaries and stakeholders, if not the stockhold-

ers, of this enterprise, should not have to expect any less, and shouldn't expect their

elected leaders to accept anything less.

Indeed, I think one of the primary purposes of this hearing today is to determine
whether those in charge of the projects have met expectations—whether or not they

are getting the job done.
To get the answer, we can start by looking at the Annual Report or, in this case,

the GAG Report.
I must admit from the outset, I found the contents of this report troubling, par-

ticularly in light of the testimony we have heard here today.

As the report states, the primary mission of the Fine Center is to centralize and
automate the criminal debt collection process. The GAG recounts how AOUSC devel-

oped a plan to establish a Fine Center in Raleigh, North Carolina expressly for that

purpose.
AOUSC spent 4 years and $5 million allocated from the VOCA fund attempting

to establish a centralized automated information system. But when its attempts to

develop and install a nationwide computer system failed, the project plan was aban-

doned.
Had this been the private sector project, and the management team had spent 4

years and $5 million and then had no functioning system to show for, it is doubtful

whether those responsible would have been given more time and more money to try

again.
But this committee, I believe, in an effort to give those involved the benefit of the

doubt, granted them a temporary reprieve. Despite the fact that members of this

committee expressed their dissatisfaction with the progress of the project during last

years hearing, this committee granted AOUSC an additional year to develop and
begin implementation of an alternate plan. GAG has reported the results of those

efforts.

The GAO has summarized the current status of that plan and the process by

which it is being implemented. In essence, it describes a process whereby the Clerk

of Court staff fill out forms containing basic information about each case and mail

them to the fine center. In addition, Clerk of Court staff, probation offices, and U.S.

Attorney offices are required to submit manually prepared account maintenance
forms to the NFC when information about the debtor or account changes. NFC staff

enter the information into an accounting software package it purchased off the shelf

for several thousands of dollars. The package performs basic account calculations
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and generates a billing which is then sent to the offender. However, NFC staff cal-

culate interest rates and penalties for these accounts by hand. Upon receipt of pay-

ment, NFC staff manually calculate what percentage of such payments are to be

paid to the victim before such disbursements are made.
I don't pretend to be a computer systems specialist, but I doubt that anyone who

is could honestly say that such a process meets their definition of an automated sys-

tem. But more importantly, I have to wonder how any corporate CEO presented

with such a system by his IMS department would react.

I also wonder what his reaction would be if he had waited 5 years and had spent

more than $7 million dollars for such a system. I think I know what the stockhold-

ers would say.

The GAO report also indicates that 25 judicial districts are currently sending in-

formation on new criminal debt accounts to the NFC. The AOUSC considers these

jurisdiction to be "on the system". They are also quick to point out that this is two

more jurisdictions than they had originally scheduled—which means that they are

not only on target, but actually ahead of schedule.

Setting aside for the moment the question of whether these jurisdictions on the

system are truly part of a "centralized" and "automated" system, they still only rep-

resent barely a quarter of the total number of districts.

Again, considering the investment of time and money, would this be considered

acceptable performance by private sector standards?—particularly when you con-

sider that these are the 25 smallest districts.

In the end, the true test of the current debt collection system is what it actually

has collected. Again, the GAO reported that in the 13 districts for which they had
information, the system has collected 6 percent of the outstanding balance in those

districts. While the information is not available, the amount collected as a total per-

centage of the outstanding debt in all 94 judicial districts would surely be much
lower.

Again, we are being asked to settle for a 6 percent solution. Would the chairman
of the board in a private enterprise be willing to settle for a 6 percent solution?

If a collection system in national retail chain collected less than 6 percent of it

accounts receivable in less than a third of its stores and percent in the remaining
two-thirds over a year, would it be considered acceptable performance?

In the real vorld, such performance would not only be considered a failure, but

would surely have caused the business to fail after only a few months of operation.

It is ironic that in our current situation it's the victim service organizations and
agencies that are closing their doors as the result of our failed fine collection system.

More importantly its crime victims who are ultimately paying the heaviest price for

our failures.

The real tragedy of these failure is not so much the millions of VOCA dollars that

have been wasted during the course of this program or even the millions of dollars

of criminal debt that never were or never will be collected. What breaks my heart

is the thought of the thousands of crime victims who were denied the essential as-

sistance they so desperately needed, simply because the AOUSC was unable to solve

a basic account automation problems that is solved everyday in the private sector

in far less time with far less money.
Even more frustrating is the fact the AOUSC seemed to be surrounded by solu-

tions. Private firms such as Anderson consulting who specialize in solving such
problems apparently offered AOUSC a solution more than a year ago. Even within

their own department, automated systems such as the CVB system and the civil

system, currently about to go on line, seem to offer ready-made solutions to NFC's
current information management dilemma. Yet these solutions have largely been ig-

nored.
AOUSC has said here today that they are well on their way to solving the crimi-

nal debt collection problem. They said they are confident that they can complete the

system. But the question remains—when and at what cost?

They indicate that they are not scheduled to begin the second phase of the auto-

mation process until September of 1996. In effect, they are asking Congress to wait
at least another year. More importantly, they are asking crime victims to wait at

least another year before the can reap the full benefits of a completed collection sys-

tem.
The problem with this is that crime victims and the programs that serve them

don't have a year to spare.

My question is, "Who is going to tell them?"
Who is going to tell the women on the waiting lists at virtually every domestic

violence shelter in the nation that they are going to have to wait another year to

escape the brutality and abuse that is a daily part of their lives?
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Who wants to explain to a rape victim in Tennessee who was turned away from
a rape crisis center why technical difficulties with computer systems in Washington
is the reason she can't get the help she needs to put her shattered life back to-

gether?
Who wants to explain to a drunk driving victim who has been permanently para-

lyzed that they are being denied their right to restitution because the system lacks

the administrative capability to collect and disperse restitution payments in their

part of the country?
AOUSC says they need more time, but all these victims are out of time. And for

the thousands of Americans who will be victimized this year, next year or the year
after that will be too late.

This committee has the power to decide the fate of this criminal debt collection

program, but I urge the members of this committee to remember that it is the crime
victims who literally have to live or die with whatever decision is made.

For me, it comes down to this bottom line: Congress has given AOUSC the money
and the time they've needed to get the job done. In fact, you've extended that dead-
line once already. Despite these dispensations, the completion date is still years
away.
The question now seems to be if those responsible for the project have the means

and the motivation can get the job done in a timely fashion and, more importantly,

whether they should be given the opportunity?
I can't help but wonder what a board of directors of a private enterprise would

decide if faced with the same decision under the same set of circumstance.
I think I can state without fear of contradiction that crime victims, as the primary

stakeholders of the project, have little confidence left in those with whom they
placed not only their money but their trust.

After 6 years and $7 million, crime victims are still waiting for an answer.
I'd like to close by reading a portion of the introductory passage of an information

booklet published by AOUSC.

When a defendant ignores a court-imposed fine or restitution order, punishment
is evaded, not unlike an inmate who escapes from prison.

. . . Imagine the outrage if those responsible for an escaped prisoner's capture
sat idly by and made no attempt to locate the fugitive. The reaction should be
similar for unpaid fines and restitution orders.

That pretty much sums up the sentiment of every victim and victim service pro-

vider I've spoken to about this issue. Every day we delay, more money slip through
our fingers, and more offenders slip out from under their responsibility.

Speaking on behalf of the crime victims movement, I implore this committee to

take decisive action to fulfill the promise of its legislative mandates by taking steps

to insuring the establishment of a fully functional criminal debt tracking and collec-

tion system at the earliest possible date.

It seems like it is the least that can be done for those Americans our society failed

to protect. And since 5 out of 6 Americans will become victims of crime during their

lifetime, we owe it to ourselves and the rest of our nation's citizens.

o

ISBN 0-16-052381-8

9 780160"523816

90000






